
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

Development Control Committee
Date: Wednesday, 3rd March, 2021

Time: 5.00 pm
Place: Virtual Meeting via MS Teams

Contact: Tim Row - Principal Democratic Services Officer 
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk 

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Supplementary Report 
To follow

**** Contents List & Introduction 

4  21/00019/FUL - 17 - 19 Manor Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton Ward) 
(Pages 7 - 52)

5  20/02207/FUL - 315 Station Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward) 
(Pages 53 - 138)

6  21/00053/FULH - 140 Thorpe Hall Avenue, Thorpe Bay, Southend-on-Sea 
(Thorpe Ward) (Pages 139 - 162)

7  20/02096/FULH - 117 North Crescent, Southend-on-Sea (St Laurence 
Ward) (Pages 163 - 204)

8  20/02147/FULH - 9 Appledore, Shoeburyness (West Shoebury Ward) 
(Pages 205 - 230)

TO:  The Chair & Members of Development Control Committee:
Councillor N Ward (Chair), 
Councillors M Borton (Vice-Chair), B Ayling, J Beck, A Chalk, D Cowan, A Dear, M Dent, 
F Evans, D Garston, S Habermel, D Jarvis, A Jones, C Mulroney, A Thompson, 
S Wakefield and C Walker

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

AGENDA: 03rd March 2021

WARD APP/REF NO. ADDRESS

Main Plans Report

Milton 21/00019/FUL
17 - 19 Manor Road,

Westcliff-On-Sea

Chalkwell 20/02207/FUL
315 Station Road,
Westcliff-On-Sea

Thorpe 21/00053/FULH
140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,

Thorpe Bay

St Laurence 20/02096/FULH
117 North Crescent,
Southend-On-Sea

West Shoebury 20/02147/FULH
9 Appledore

Shoeburyness

1



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

      2



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

      

INTRODUCTION

(i) Recommendations in capitals at the end of each report are those of the Deputy 
Chief Executive and Executive Director (Growth & Housing), are not the 
decision of the Committee and are subject to Member consideration.

(ii) All plans have been considered in the context of the Borough Council's 
Environmental Charter.  An assessment of the environmental implications of 
development proposals is inherent in the development control process and implicit in 
the reports.

(iii) Reports will not necessarily be dealt with in the order in which they are printed.

(iv) The following abbreviations are used in the reports: -

CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy
DAS - Design & Access Statement
DEFRA - Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DPD - Development Plan Document
EA - Environmental Agency
EPOA - Essex Planning Officer’s Association 
JAAP - Southend Airport and Environs Joint Area Action Plan
MHCLG - Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
NDG - National Design Guide
NDSS - Nationally Described Space Standards
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework
PPG - National Planning Practice Guidance
RAMS - Recreation Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy
SCAAP - Southend Central Area Action Plan
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document
SSSI - Sites of Special Scientific Interest.  A national designation. SSSIs 

are the country's very best wildlife and geological sites. 
SPA - Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection 

under the terms of the European Community Directive on the 
Conservation of Wild Birds.

Ramsar Site - Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of 
Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention.  
(Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention is concerned 
with the protection of wetlands, especially those important for 
migratory birds)

Background Papers

(i) Planning applications and supporting documents and plans
(ii) Application worksheets and supporting papers
(iii) Non-exempt contents of property files
(iv) Consultation and publicity responses
(v) NPPF and PPG including the NDG
(vi) NDSS
(vii) Core Strategy SPD
(viii) Development Management DPD
(ix) JAAP

3



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

      

(x) SCAAP
(xi) Design and Townscape Guide
(xii) Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement
(xiii) Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments
(xiv) Essex Coast RAMS SPD
(xv) CIL Charging Schedule

NB Other letters and papers not taken into account in preparing this report but received 
subsequently will be reported to the Committee either orally or in a supplementary 
report. 

4



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

      

Use Classes
(Generally in force from 1st September 2020) 

Class B1         Business 
Class B2         General industrial 
Class B8         Storage or distribution 
Class C1         Hotels 
Class C2         Residential institutions 
Class C2A       Secure residential institutions 
Class C3         Dwellinghouses 
Class C4         Houses in multiple occupation 
Class E           Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1         Learning and non-residential institutions 
Class F.2         Local community
Sui Generis     A use on its own, for which any change of use will require planning 
permission. 

Deleted Use Classes 
(limited effect on applications for prior approval and other permitted 
development rights until 31st July 2021)

Class A1         Shops 
Class A2         Financial and professional services 
Class A3         Restaurants and cafes 
Class A4         Drinking establishments 
Class A5         Hot food takeaways 
Class D1         Non-residential institutions 
Class D2         Assembly and leisure 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 1 -

Reference: 21/00019/FUL

Application Type: Full Application

Ward: Milton

Proposal: Change of use from two (2) dwellinghouses to an eighteen 
(18) Room Larger HMO (Sui Generis), associated provision 
of cycle storage, amenity space to rear, bin storage and 
landscaping and extension of existing vehicular access on to 
Manor Road.

Address: 17 - 19 Manor Road, Westcliff-on-Sea, Essex

Applicant: Mr Freylich

Agent: Mr Maz Rahman of RD architecture Ltd.

Consultation Expiry: 18th February 2021

Expiry Date: 10th March 2021

Case Officer: Spyros Mouratidis

Plan Nos: 105 P3, 120 P5, 250 P5

Supporting Documents: Design and Access Statement Issue 2, Planning 
Statement Issue 2, Letter from Carpenters Rose 
Solicitors and Notary Public, Officer’s report for 
SOS/87/2195, Auction Listing, Site Photographs, 
Supporting letters from CAST and Henderson Property 
(NHS South Essex Trust)

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions

7

4



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 2 -

1 Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is located on the western side of Manor Road and comprises both 
buildings at 17 and 19 Manor Road, a pair of traditional, three-storey, semi-detached 
properties. There is an accessway to the south of the site which leads to the rear part of 
17 Manor Road. The site benefits from a vehicular access off Manor Road to the front 
of 19 Manor Road. There are four car parking spaces on site, two to the front of 19 
Manor Road and two to the rear of 17 Manor Road. The front part of 19 Manor Road is 
hardsurfaced while that of 17 Manor Road is occupied by small garden enclosed by a 
low wall. There are two substantial and mature street trees to the front of the site.

1.2 Initially the proposal described the existing use as a bed and breakfast hotel/ HMO, but 
there is no evidence to support that this use is the lawful use of the site. Both properties 
are registered as individual dwellinghouses for Council Tax purposes and have been for 
many years. Evidence has been provided by the agent in the form of a planning 
application report from 1987 which states that 19 Manor Road was used as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO) in the 1970s. That application was for the conversion of the 
building into three flats. There is no evidence that the HMO use (if that was the lawful 
use at the time) continued or that the conversion to three flats took place. On the balance 
of probability, the lawful use of the site is considered to be two dwellinghouses (Use 
Class C3) and the description of the development has been amended to reflect this. 

8



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 3 -

1.3 The surrounding area is occupied by small hotels and residential uses, with a mix of 
flats, terraces and semi-detached properties. The site is not currently affected by any 
specific policy designations but the emerging document for the Leas Conservation Area 
would expand the conservation area and would include the application site and 
surrounding properties on Manor Road. The adjoining properties to the west are already 
within the Leas Conservation Area, as is the area further west and south of the site. The 
area designated as the seafront is some 60m to the south.

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the buildings from two 
dwellinghouses, falling within the definition of Use Class C3, to an eighteen-room HMO 
which is a Sui Generis use. No external alterations are proposed to the main buildings. 
It is proposed to erect two outbuildings to the rear to accommodate up to twenty (20) 
cycle parking spaces, to provide bin storage facilities to the side of 17 Manor Road and 
to make some minor alterations to the landscaping of the frontage of the site. It is also 
proposed to extend the width of the existing vehicle crossover on Manor Road from 2.5m 
to 4.8m. 

2.2 All proposed rooms would have private bathrooms. From the proposed rooms, five 
(5no.) would contain kitchen area facilities and the rest would rely on communal kitchen 
facilities. The bedroom mix would include nine (9no.) double rooms and nine (9no.) 
single rooms.

3 Relevant Planning History

3.1 The relevant planning history of the site is shown on Table 1 below:

Table 1: Relevant Planning History

Reference Description Outcome
87/2195
[19 Manor Road]

Erect two storey rear extension and convert 
former dwellinghouse into three flats with 
parking on forecourt

Permission Granted 
[13.04.1988]

20/02098/PREAPF Pre-application enquiry for the conversion of 
the site to an HMO

Advice Given
[12.02.2021]

 
4 Representation Summary

Call-in
4.1 The application has been called-in by Councillor George for consideration at the 

Development Control Committee due to its controversial nature.

Public Consultation
4.2 Twenty-one (21) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was 

displayed. Objecting comments from twenty-eight (28) interested parties have been 
received and are summarised as follows:

Impact on residential amenity
 Noise and disturbance from over-intensive use.
 Nearby residents would not be able to enjoy their outdoors space.

9



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 4 -

Impact on highway safety
 Additional traffic in a heavily congested area.
 No sufficient parking provision.
 The area already suffers from congestion and parking problems associated with 

the train station. 
 Increased waste collections on the road.

Living conditions of future occupiers
 Poor living conditions for future occupants.
 Individual bedrooms are not sufficient.
 These types of properties are not suitable for self-isolation due to the pandemic.
 Insufficient amenity space.

Other matters
 The area has an excessive number of HMOs.
 The area has an issue with anti-social behaviour and crime which this proposal 

will exacerbate.
 Communal bin storage areas tend to be unsuccessful and unsightly, insufficient 

bin storage provision.
 Overdevelopment of the properties.
 Unsympathetic development to the conservation area.
 Lack of environmental enhancements.
 This is not family housing.
 The proposal would materially impact the sewage system.
 There is no permit to use the property as an HMO.

4.3 The comments have been taken into consideration and the relevant to planning matters 
raised are discussed in the relevant sections of the report. The objecting points raised 
by the representations are not found to represent material reasons for recommending 
refusal of the planning application in the circumstances of this case.

Highways
4.4 No objections - Consideration has been given to the previous use of the site. There are 

no parking standards for HMOs. Four car parking spaces and secure cycle parking are 
part of the application. The site is located close to public transport facilities with rail and 
bus services within walking distance. Future occupiers will not be eligible for a residential 
or public car parking permit.

Environmental Health
4.5 No objections subject to conditions regarding construction, waste management and 

layout to meet the Council’s HMO policy.

Parks
4.6 No comments.

Fire Safety Officer
4.7 No objections.

5 Planning Policy Summary
 

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

10



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 5 -

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2019)

5.3 National Housing Standards (2015)

5.4 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP8 
(Dwelling Provision).

5.5 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 
Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use 
of Land), DM5 (Southend-on-Sea’s Historic Environment), DM7 (Dwelling Mix, Size and 
Type), DM8 (Residential Standards), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management).

5.6 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.7 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)

5.8 Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2014)

5.9 Essex Coast Recreational Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) (2020)

5.10 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)

5.11 The Leas Conservation Area Appraisal (2009)

5.12 Emerging The Leas Conservation Area Appraisal (2020)

5.13 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the impact on the character and appearance of the area, including the 
impact on the significance of the conservation area, the standard of accommodation for 
future occupiers, the impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic 
and transportation issues, refuse and recycling storage, ecology and compliance with 
Essex Coast RAMS SPD and whether the development would be liable for CIL.

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states: “Planning policies and decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.” 
Furthermore, the NPPF requires development to boost the supply of housing by 
delivering a wide choice of high-quality homes. 

11



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 6 -

7.2 The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) published by the Government show that 
there is underperformance of housing delivery in the Borough. Similarly, the Council’s 
Five-Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing 
land supply in the Borough. The HDT and 5YHLS carry weight in favour of the principle 
of the development given the proposed creation of additional housing.

7.3 Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will: “[…] 2. resist development 
proposals that involve the loss of existing valuable residential resources, having regard 
to the limited land resources in the Borough, the need to safeguard an adequate stock 
of single family dwellinghouses and to protect the character of residential areas”. The 
Council’s planning policies also recognise that there is a particular need for family sized 
dwellings in the borough. 

7.4 While the applicant has not provided any evidence to show this would come forward it 
is noted that there is a fall-back position in relation to the proposed use as each of the 
existing dwellings could be converted to a six-person HMO within Use Class C4 under 
the provisions of the General Permitted Development Order, without the need for 
express planning permission or prior approval by the Local Planning Authority. Whilst 
the proposal would not result in any units suitable for family accommodation and would 
result in the loss of two existing family dwellings, the need for additional housing and the 
fall-back position outweigh the conflict identified with policy CP8 of the Core Strategy.

7.5 Policy DM8 states that non-self-contained accommodation should be directed toward 
the central area of Southend or where such type of accommodation is needed by certain 
institutions, such as Southend Hospital or University of Essex. Southend-on-Sea 
Borough Council’s development framework does not currently contain any policies that 
specifically relate to HMOs. 

7.6 The submitted information states that the HMO would be given to be used to an 
organisation and supporting letters from two of them have been submitted with the 
application. It is stated that the proposal would be providing accommodation for NHS 
staff or asylum seekers and refugees. It is also stated that a Unilateral Undertaking will 
be submitted to secure the type of future occupiers, but no such legal document has 
been submitted. As such no weight has been placed on this element of the submission. 
While the loss of family sized accommodation is a negative aspect of the scheme, on 
balance, there is no objection to the principle of the creation of an HMO in this location, 
subject to other material considerations being suitably addressed. Other material 
planning considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.

Heritage, Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.7 Good design is a fundamental requirement of new development to achieve high quality 
living environments. Its importance is reflected in the NPPF, in Policies KP2 and CP4 of 
the Core Strategy and also in Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document. 
The Design and Townscape Guide also states that: “the Borough Council is committed 
to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments.”

12



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 7 -

7.8 The site adjoins the current boundary of the Leas Conservation Area and with the 
proposed expansion of its boundary it would be within it. The emerging conservation 
area appraisal has been subject to a public consultation process. Section 72(1) of the 
Planning and Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 states that special 
attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the Conservation Area. The emerging The Leas Conservation Area 
Appraisal identifies both dwellings on site as making positive contribution within the 
Conservation Area, but recognises sympathetic improvements are required.

7.9 The proposal does not include any external changes to the main buildings. The 
proposed cycle parking outbuildings to the rear would have a typical appearance for 
residential outbuildings. They would measure 2.6m deep, up to 2.4m high and 4.8m and 
1.8m in width. They would be finished with shiplap timber cladding. Their proposed 
location and design are considered acceptable. 

7.10 The proposed location of the bin storage facilities would not significantly impact the 
character and appearance of the site due to limited public views to the side of the site. 
Appropriate screening can be secured by condition. 

7.11 In terms of landscaping, the retention of the front garden at 17 Manor Road is a positive 
aspect of the scheme. Details of the additional soft landscaping can be required by 
condition. Overall, the proposal, subject to conditions, would have an acceptable impact 
on the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the wider surrounding 
area. The proposal would also preserve the historic and architectural significance of the 
Leas Conservation Area. The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy 
compliant in the above regards.

Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers

7.12 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the 
Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where 
they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 
future residents or neighbouring residents.

7.13 In relation to residential standards for non-self-contained accommodation, policy DM8 
of the Development Management Document, states that all proposals of this nature will 
be required to meet the internal space standards set out in Policy Table 6 which states 
that a minimum bedroom size should be 6.5m2 for single and 10.2m2 for double 
bedrooms and that the accommodation shall have some communal areas, such as a 
living room, kitchen, diner. 

7.14 The Council has adopted the Essex Approved Code of Practice with respect to HMOs 
and this document represents a material planning consideration when read along with 
the above policy table, although it is noted that the Code of Practice is not a planning 
policy document. This document sets out the following standards for HMOs:

13



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 8 -

7.15 As already discussed, half of the proposed bedrooms would meet the standard to 
accommodate two bed spaces and half would meet the standards to accommodate one 
bed space. The proposed internal layout would result in the premises providing some 
29m2 of shared floorspace for kitchen and some 42m2 for living/dining facilities. All 
bedrooms would benefit from private bathrooms. It is proposed to provide one shared 
WC at ground floor level. 

14



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 9 -

7.16 On the basis of communal facilities that would be offered, it is considered that all 
bedrooms should be limited to be used as single bedrooms and the maximum number 
of occupants should be limited to eighteen (18). In line with the approach taken by the 
Inspector when determining an appeal at 73 Salisbury Avenue1, the number of 
bedrooms and occupants can be limited with a planning condition.

7.17 All rooms would benefit from acceptable outlook and natural light. The use of the balcony 
of F.1 on 19 Manor Road could create an overlooking issue at F.2 on the same building 
and F.1 on 17 Manor Road. However, it is proposed the windows of the bay looking at 
the balcony to be obscured glazed and a condition can be imposed to require this prior 
to the first occupation of these bedrooms to suitably address this issue. The proposed 
communal amenity space would be adequate for the number of occupants. Subject to 
limiting the number of occupants and dealing with the inter-overlooking issue through 
obscured glazing, the proposal would not result in substandard quality of 
accommodation or be materially harmful to the living conditions of future occupiers. In 
the round, subject to conditions, the development is acceptable and in line with policy in 
the above regards. 

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.18 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document requires all development to be 
appropriate in its setting by respecting neighbouring development and existing 
residential amenities and also: “having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and 
disturbance, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and 
sunlight.”

7.19 The nearest use class C3 dwellings to the application site are the residential units at 20 
to 24 Palmerston Road, to the rear of the property. Other neighbours on either side of 
Manor Road include a care home and a guest house. The property on the opposite side 
of the road is also a care home. Given that no physical alterations are proposed, the 
development would not materially alter the relationship of the buildings on site with their 
neighbours in terms of privacy, overlooking, outlook, sense of enclosure/overbearing 
relationship, daylight and sunlight. 

7.20 The level of occupancy, limited by condition at eighteen (18) persons, would result in an 
increased level of activity on site compared to an average use of a large family dwelling. 
However, on balance it is not considered that any substantially harmful noise and 
disturbance or pollution to the extent that it would cause material detriment to the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers would arise from the proposed use. HMOs are 
generally compatible with a residential setting. The Council’s Environmental Health team 
raised no objections to the scheme. On balance the development is acceptable and 
policy compliant in these regards. 

Traffic and Transportation Issues

7.21 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “Development will be 
allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be, physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a 
safe and sustainable manner”. The policy also requires that adequate parking should be 
provided for all development in accordance with the adopted vehicle parking standards.

1 APP/D1590/W/19/3236129

15



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 10 -

7.22 The parking standards do not include any specific requirements for HMOs. The proposal 
would not provide any additional vehicle parking beyond the existing four car parking 
spaces. The lawful use of the site as two dwellings attracts a minimum standard of two 
spaces per unit. Bearing in mind that the two dwellings on site could be converted to two 
six-person HMOs without the need for planning permission, the additional six occupants 
would not exacerbate the parking situation to a degree that the absence of additional 
parking would cause material harm to the highway safety and parking conditions of the 
area. Furthermore, the site is in a sustainable location, in close proximity to the Westcliff 
Station and within reasonable walking distance from bus routes and local services and 
amenities. It should be noted that Inspectors at appeals have accepted that HMOs in 
the Borough do not generate significant traffic movements or parking need. Highway 
officers have confirmed that they have no objection to the scheme on parking or 
highways grounds.

7.23 The application site contains a cycle storage area to the rear and it is proposed to 
provide additional cycle parking spaces. A condition can be imposed to secure a total of 
eighteen spaces, one cycle parking space per room, be provided. The proposed 
changes to the access arrangements of the site, namely the extension of the existing 
vehicular crossover on Manor Road by 2.3m in width, would not cause a materially 
harmful impact on the highway safety or the free flow of traffic. The development is 
acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.

Refuse and Recycling Storage

7.24 The submitted plans show an area of waste storage to the side of the 17 Manor Road. 
The design implications of the proposed location have already been discussed in the 
relevant section of the report and a condition is recommended to deal with these. 

7.25 The proposed provision of eighteen bedrooms attracts a policy requirement for a 
designated area for waste and recyclable storage. This area should include two 
recycling (1100 litre) containers, two waste (1100 litre) containers, a paper and card 
container and one food waste (140 litre) container. The location of the bin area should 
not be more than 25m from the edge of the highway.

7.26 The provision shown on the submitted plans would meet the quantum of the required 
standard. The proposed location, while not particularly convenient for the occupiers of 
19 Manor Road, would be accessible by residents and collection facilities. Subject to the 
recommended condition requiring the provision of the proposed bin storage area, the 
proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.

Energy and Water Sustainability 

7.27 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 
development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, 
all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon 
dioxide emissions”.  The same policy requires all new development to provide “water 
efficient design measures that limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person 
per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption). Such measures will 
include the use of water efficient fittings, appliance and water recycling systems such as 
grey water and rainwater harvesting”.

16



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 11 -

7.28 No details have been submitted with the application to demonstrate whether the 
proposed development would meet the target of renewable energy sources covering at 
least 10% of the anticipated energy consumption in line with policy requirement or how 
the water consumption would be limited. It is considered that the requirements for 
renewable energy and restrictions on water usage could be controlled with conditions. 
Care would be needed to ensure that any renewable technologies submitted for 
approval under such a condition would not harm the character and appearance of the 
area. This aspect of the proposal is, therefore, considered to be acceptable and policy 
compliant in these regards.

Ecology and Essex Coast RAMS

7.29 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites 
scoped into the emerging Essex Coast RAMS. It is the Council’s duty as a competent 
authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any 
necessary mitigation and record this decision within the planning documentation. Any 
new residential development has the potential to cause disturbance to European 
designated sites and therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. 
This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. 

7.30 In this instance, the proposal would result in a reduction of residential units as from two 
dwellinghouses there would be one HMO unit. The development does not need to offer 
mitigation as it would not have significant effect on habitats and species. The 
development is acceptable and in line with policies in this regard.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.31 As the development does not create any new floorspace and does not involve the 
creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), the development benefits from a Minor 
Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and as such no charge is payable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that the 
proposed development would, on balance, be acceptable and in line with the objectives 
of the relevant local and national policies and guidance. The proposal makes a 
contribution to the housing needs of the Borough through provision of a good standard 
of new HMO which must be weighed in the overall planning balance against the loss of 
family dwelling houses. The proposal would, subject to conditions, result in acceptable 
impact on the character and appearance of the area and the living conditions of future 
occupiers. Moreover, the proposal would, subject to conditions, have an acceptable 
impact on the highway safety and parking conditions of the area and can offer 
acceptable bin storage facilities. The proposed development would, on balance, also 
result in an acceptable impact to neighbouring residential amenity. This application is, 
therefore, recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

17



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 12 -

9 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 3 years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

02 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans: 105 P3, 120 P5, 250 P5.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
development plan.

03 Within the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) following 
the first use of the development hereby approved, a soft landscaping scheme 
shall be implemented in line with details which have previously been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions 
of these conditions. The soft landscaping scheme be implemented, completed 
and maintained thereafter in full accordance with the approved details.

Within a period of five years from the completion of the development hereby 
approved, or from the date of the planting of any tree or any tree planted in its 
replacement, if any tree planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme is 
removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the local 
planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same 
species and size as that of the original tree shall be planted in the same place or 
in accordance with alternative tree replacement details approved under the scope 
of this planning condition.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the 
advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).

04 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) the building hereby approved shall not at any time be adapted to enable 
formation of more than eighteen (18) bedrooms and the property shall not be 
occupied by more than eighteen (18) people at any one time.  

Reason: To ensure the use hereby approved would offer acceptable living 
conditions for its occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8.

18



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 13 -

05 The north facing (side) window of bedroom F.1 on 17 Manor Road and the south 
facing (side) window of bedroom F.2 on 19 Manor Road shall be glazed in obscure 
glass (the glass to be obscure to at least Level 4 on the Pilkington Levels of 
Privacy, or equivalent) and be permanently fixed shut, except for any top hung 
fan light which shall be a minimum of 1.7 metres above internal finished floor level 
of the internal area which it serves before the property is brought into use for the 
purposes hereby approved.  In the case of multiple or double glazed units at least 
one layer of glass in the relevant units shall be glazed in obscure glass to at least 
Level 4. The windows shall be retained in line with these details for the lifetime of 
the development.

Reason: To ensure the use hereby approved would offer acceptable living 
conditions for its occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8.

06 The four existing car parking spaces in the areas shown on the approved plan 250 
P5 shall be retained for the lifetime of the development for the purposes of car 
parking solely for residents of the approved use on site and their visitors.

Reason:  To ensure the provision of adequate parking in accordance with National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and 
Policies DM3, DM8 and DM15 of Development Management Document (2015).

07 The development hereby approved shall not be brought into first use unless and 
until the cycle parking facilities as shown on the approved plan 250 P5 have been 
provided on site in complete accordance with the approved details. The provision 
of at least eighteen (18) secured and covered cycle parking spaces shall be 
provided on site and be made available for use for the benefit of the current and 
future occupiers of the approved development and shall be retained in perpetuity 
for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking and in the interest of 
visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), 
Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4, Development Management 
Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3, DM8 and DM15, and the advice contained 
within the National Design Guide (2019) and the Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009).

08 Notwithstanding the information submitted and details shown on the plans 
submitted and otherwise hereby approved, the development hereby approved 
shall not be brought into first use unless and until details, including full elevations 
and materials, of the bin storage facility shown on approved plan 250 P5 have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
bin storage facility shall be constructed in complete accordance with the 
approved details. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into 
first use unless and until the bins have been provided on site and made available 
for use in line with the approved details. The bin storage facility and its bins shall 
thereafter be maintained for the lifetime of the development.

19



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 14 -

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate waste, recycling and food waste 
storage and in the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2, CP3 and 
CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3, DM8 and 
DM15, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019), the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Waste Storage, Collection and 
Management Guide for New Developments (2019).

09 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved details of energy 
efficiency and other sustainability measures to be included in the scheme, 
including the provision of at least 10% of the energy needs of the development 
hereby approved being provided from onsite renewable sources, shall be 
submitted to, agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented 
on site in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

10 The development hereby approved shall incorporate water efficient design 
measures set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document 
to limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd 
when including external water consumption), including measures of water 
efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and 
rainwater harvesting before they are occupied.

Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received 
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  The detailed analysis is set out in a report 
on the application prepared by officers.

20



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00019/FUL

- 15 -

Informatives:

1 You are advised that as the proposed extension(s) or change of use to your 
property equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace and does not involve the 
creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), the development benefits from a Minor 
Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_inf
rastructure_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil) for further 
details about CIL.

21



This page is intentionally left blank



23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

Photos 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROJECT 

17 - 19 MANOR ROAD, 
WESTCLIFF ON SEA, ESSEX, SS0 7SR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REV. NO. DATE DESCRIPTION 
01 2021.01.04 Issued 

   
   
   
   
   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
642 London Road, 
Westcliff on Sea, 
Essex, SS0 9HW 

 
t + 44 (0) 203 7455 020 
t + 44 (0) 1702 680 820 

 
e info@rdarchitecure.co.uk 

 

29



 

 

30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



 

49



50



 

51



This page is intentionally left blank



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 1 -

Reference: 20/02207/FUL

Application Type: Full Application

Ward: Chalkwell

Proposal: Demolish existing buildings at former hand car wash site and 
erect no. 4 three storey dwellings and no.2 two storey 
dwellings with integral garages and associated amenity 
space , layout landscaping and form vehicular accesses onto 
Station Road (Amended Proposal)

Address: 315 Station Road, Westcliff-On-Sea, Essex

Applicant: Mr Ari Feferkom

Agent: Mr Pantazis of Redwoods Projects Ltd

Consultation Expiry: 11th February 2021

Expiry Date: 12th March 2021

Case Officer: Spyros Mouratidis

Plan Nos: E 00, E 01, P01 REV A, P02 REV A, P03, P04 REV A, P05, 
P06 REV A, P07, P08 REV A, P09, P10 REV A, P11, P12 
REV A, P13, P14 REV A, P15, P16 REV A, P17, P18 REV 
B, P19 REV B, P20 REV A, P21 REV B, P22 REV A, 
MGS40163-3DM-01 REV A

Supporting Documents: Design Access and Planning Statement

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions

53

5



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 2 -

Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is a narrow strip of land on the north side of Station Road. Originally 
a petrol station and formerly a garage, until recently, it was used for a hand car washing 
business. The site is occupied by a single storey building. The site backs onto the railway 
line running along the north side of Station Road. The south side of the road facing the 
site is characterised by three storey mansion blocks of traditional design incorporating 
shops at ground floor level. A four-storey building is located at the corner of Station Road 
with Pembury Road. Pembury Road allows views towards the Thames Estuary. Station 
Road is a classified road. Other than the Leas Conservation Area the nearest boundary 
of which lies some 50m to the south of the site on Pembury Road, there are no specific 
policy or other designations affecting the site or the surrounding area.

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of six (6no.) dwellinghouses, grouped in 
two terraces. The western terrace would accommodate three (3no.) x three-storey 
dwellings and the eastern terrace would accommodate one (1no.) x three-storey and 
two (2no.) x two-storey dwellings. The existing building on site would be demolished as 
part of the proposal. The proposed dwellings would each measure some 11.6m in width 
by 6.6m in depth and would be located abutting the boundary of the site with the public 
footpath. The dwellings would have roof gardens on top which would be surrounded by 
a glazed balustrade 1m in height. 

54



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 3 -

On the rooftop there would be structures some 1.2m wide by 4.2m deep to 
accommodate the access from the lower floors resulting in an overall maximum height 
of approximately 10.3m for the three-storey properties and 7.6m for the two-storey 
properties. The eaves height would be 8.2m and 5.5m for the three-storey and two-
storey parts of the development, respectively. The proposed dwellings would be finished 
with white brick over decorative timber and metal cladding, timber doors and polyester 
powder coated aluminium windows with iron railings or glazed balustrades.

2.2 Two of the proposed dwellings would accommodate three bedrooms with five bed 
spaces and the rest would accommodate four bedrooms with six bed spaces. Each 
dwelling would have a single, integral garage at ground floor, where it is also proposed 
to accommodate cycle parking and bin storage. All dwellings would be provided with at 
least 44m2 of private amenity space in the form of a roof terrace. The four larger 
dwellings would also benefit from a second floor balcony. 

2.3 The proposal is an alternative scheme to the extant planning permission 16/01134/OUT 
(the “2016 Permission”) granted on appeal1. The main difference between the two 
schemes is the height, size, scale, form and appearance of the development. The 2016 
Permission allowed for two-storey dwellings measuring up to 7.1m in height. These 
dwellings were of a more rectangular form and of a more rudimentary appearance when 
compared to the current proposal. Details of the 2016 Permission are included in the 
following section. 

2.4 Moreover, this proposal is an amended scheme following the refusal of planning 
application 20/01608/FUL (the “Second 2020 Application). The difference between this 
proposal and the previously refused scheme is reduction in size of the two easternmost 
dwellings (units 315a and 315b). These two dwellings have been reduced by a storey 
and from a maximum height of 9.2m (without the staircase structure) they are proposed 
now to be a maximum of 7.6m. 

3 Relevant Planning History
 

3.1 The relevant planning history of the site is shown on Table 1: 
Table 1: Relevant Planning History of Application Site

Reference Description Outcome
14/01211/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 

building, erect eight three storey dwelling 
houses with roof terraces to front, 
associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.09.2015]

15/00219/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 
(Outline - Amended Proposal)

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[15.03.2016]

15/00669/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect four three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 
(Outline - Amended Proposal)

Permission Granted
[15.06.2015]

1 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982

55



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 4 -

16/01134/OUT
(the “2016 
Permission”)

Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline)(Amended Proposal)

Refused
[07.09.2016]
Appeal Allowed
[18.07.2017]

16/02006/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect five two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline) (Amended Proposal)

Refused
[30.12.2016]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.07.2017]

20/00993/RES Approval of Reserved Matters (details of 
Landscaping) pursuant to outline Planning 
Permission ref: 16/01134/OUT - Demolish 
existing single storey office building, erect 
six two storey dwellinghouses, associated 
landscaping and form vehicular accesses 
on to Station Road (Outline)(Amended 
Proposal) allowed on Appeal 18 July 2017

Reserved Matters 
Approved
[27.08.2020]

20/01185/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to conditions 14 (Construction 
Method Statement) of planning 
permission 16/01134/OUT allowed on 
Appeal dated 18.07.2017

Details Approved
[25.09.2020]

20/01355/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to condition 5 (details of 
materials) of planning permission 
16/01134/OUT allowed on Appeal dated 
18.07.2017

Details Approved
[03.11.2020]

20/01197/FUL
(the “First 
2020 
Application”)

Demolish existing buildings, erect two 
buildings to form 6 self-contained three 
storey dwellings, with associated amenity 
space, landscaping and form vehicular 
accesses onto Station Road

Refused 
[22.09.2020]

20/01608/FUL
(the “Second 
2020 
Application”)

Demolish existing buildings, erect no.6 
three storey dwellinghouses with 
associated amenity space, landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses onto Station 
Road (Amended Proposal)

Refused 
[26.11.2020]

3.2 While there are other planning history items associated with the application site, they 
are not considered to be relevant to this application. The officers’ reports for the First 
and Second 2020 Applications are appended to this report as Appendix 1 and Appendix 
2, respectively. In summary, both the First and Second 2020 Applications were refused 
because:

“The proposed development, by reason of its height and scale, would result in the 
overdevelopment of the site, appearing cramped within the narrow application site, and 
would obscure public vistas towards the seafront and Thames Estuary and The Leas 
Conservation Area from Britannia Road and Meteor Road to the material detriment of 
the character and appearance of the site and the wider area. The proposal would also 
result in material albeit less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of 
the conservation area with no public benefits outweighing the identified harm.”

56



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 5 -

3.3 The appeal decision2 allowing the extant 2016 Permission is appended to this report as 
Appendix 3. The extant permission is a material planning consideration of significant 
weight in the determination of this application. The other historic applications mentioned 
in Table 1 are either expired or have been refused hence they carry only limited weight 
for the consideration of this application in so far the matters considered are comparable 
with the current scheme.

4 Representation Summary

Call in
4.1 Councillor Walker called in this application for consideration by the Development Control 

Committee due to concerns regarding the living conditions of future occupiers by reason 
of proximity to the rail line. 

Public Consultation
4.2 Sixty (60) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was displayed. 

Representations from eleven (11) interested parties have been received. The comments 
in support of the application are summarised as follows:

Impact on character and appearance of the area
 Great new addition to the area.

4.3 The objecting comments are summarised as follows:

Impact on character and appearance of the area
 Negative impact on character and appearance of the area.
 The proposed dwellings are too deep for the depth of the site.
 The development would be isolated on the northern side of the road.
 Gross overdevelopment of a small site.
 Impact on conservation area.
 The proposed materials are inappropriate.

Living conditions of future occupiers
 Concerns about living conditions of future occupiers.
 Cramped accommodation.
 Little or no outside space.
 Limited or no sunlight.
 The proposed dwellings would be close to the rail line and a pub.
 Noise from traffic on Station Road.

Impact on residential amenity
 Negative impact on residential amenity of neighbouring residents.
 The roof top terraces would affect the privacy and overlook neighbouring 

occupiers.
 Loss of light to neighbouring properties to the south.

Impact on highway safety
 Negative impact on highway safety. 
 Parking concerns. 

2 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982

57



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 6 -

 More people on site would require additional parking. 
 Public footpath would be blocked.
 Cars would exit from the garage straight on the footpath and the busy road.
 Construction traffic would cause congestion and disruption.
 Deliveries and collections, including waste collection would cause congestion.

Other matters
 Pressure on waste collection services.
 Unclear where the bin storage is proposed.
 Impact on community safety and stability due to transient profile of residents.
 Loss of private view.
 Loss of property value. 
 The proposed properties would not be saleable.
 The applicant tries to circumvent the system by increasing the occupancy on site 

when compared to the approved scheme.
 Discrepancies in the submission

4.4 The comments have been taken into consideration and those relevant to planning 
matters are discussed in the relevant sections of the report. The objecting points raised 
by the representations are not found to represent material reasons for recommending 
refusal of the planning application in the circumstances of this case.

Environmental Health
4.5 No objections subject to conditions regarding noise and vibration mitigation measures. 

Although not part of the application, the construction of the development would require 
some overnight works due to the proximity of the site to rail line cables and the health 
and safety complications. The applicant has applied for prior consent to the regulatory 
services for demolition works.

Parks and Greenspace Officer
4.6 No objections subject to additional information regarding tree planting on Station Road 

and on the proposed roof terraces. 

Highways
4.7 No objections. There is an extant permission and it is not considered that the revised 

proposal will have a detrimental impact upon the public highway. The applicant will be 
required to apply to highways to carry out any vehicle crossover works.

Fire Safety Officer
4.8 No objections.

Network Rail
4.9 No objections subject to informatives. 

5 Planning Policy Summary
 

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2019)

58



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 7 -

5.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP8 
(Dwelling Provision).

5.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 
Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use 
of Land), DM5 (Southend on Sea Historic Environment), DM6 (The Seafront), DM7 
(Dwelling Mix, Size and Type), DM8 (Residential Standards), DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management).

5.5 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.6 National Housing Standards (2015)

5.7 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)

5.8 Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2014)

5.9 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)

5.10 Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020)

5.11 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, 
including on public views towards the seafront and the impact on the significance of the 
Leas Conservation Area, the standard of accommodation for future occupiers, the 
impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and transportation 
issues, refuse and recycling storage, energy and water sustainability, water drainage, 
ecology and compliance with the Essex Coast RAMS SPD and whether the 
development would be liable for CIL. The planning history is a material consideration in 
the determination of this application, as set out in previous sections. 

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 Paragraphs 7.1 to 7.4 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 discuss the principle of the 
development applied for with the First 2020 Application which was found to be 
acceptable. The principle for this development is equally acceptable. Other material 
planning considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2 Good design is a fundamental requirement of new development to achieve high quality 
living environments. 

59



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 8 -

Its importance is reflected in the NPPF, in Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy 
and also in Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document. The Design and 
Townscape Guide also states that: “the Borough Council is committed to good design 
and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments.”

7.3 Policy DM6 of the development management document also states that any 
development near the Seafront Area must not detrimentally impact upon the Thames 
Estuary’s openness or views across and backdrops to the River Thames and 
Southend’s beaches

7.4 The site is located a short distance away from The Leas Conservation Area. Section 72 
(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that 
special attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas. This is reinforced by Development 
Management Policy DM5.

7.5 Paragraphs 7.5 to 7.13 of the officer’s report for the First 2020 Application at Appendix 
1 and paragraphs 7.2 to 7.11 of the officer’s report for the Second 2020 Application at 
Appendix 2 discuss the design implications of the previous proposals. The layout, 
landscaping and choice of materials of the proposed development are identical to those 
proposed under the First and Second 2020 Applications and remain acceptable. 

7.6 The scale of the proposal has not been altered for four of the dwellings. The current 
proposal directly addresses the previous reasons by reducing the scale of the two 
easternmost dwellings by a storey. This reduction would result in a scheme which would 
allow more public views towards the Thames Estuary and the Leas Conservation Area 
from Britannia Road and Meteor Road when compared to the committed scheme 
allowed with the 2016 Permission. Similarly to previous schemes the proposal would, 
generally, respect the scale of neighbouring buildings to the south side of Station Road. 
The proposed dwellings would abut the boundary of the site with the public highway. 
The three-storey dwellings would have a maximum height some 2m above the extant 
permission on site. On balance, the scale of the proposal is acceptable.

7.7 In terms of form and appearance, the current scheme would introduce a step between 
three and two storey properties which was not previously proposed. Such a step is not 
uncommon in the streetscene. Generally, the simple rectangular form and modern 
appearance which were previously found to be acceptable are also proposed with this 
scheme. Overall, the current proposal would, on balance, have an acceptable impact on 
the character and appearance of the area, it would not significantly harm public views 
towards the Thames Estuary and would preserve the significance of the Leas 
Conservation Area. Conditions are recommended in relation to materials, hard and soft 
landscaping. The Council’s Parks and Greenspace Officer in consultation with the Tree 
Officers have requested more details for the soft landscaping of the site and the 
proposed street trees in particular. The proposal is, on balance and subject to 
conditions, acceptable and in line with policy in these regards.

Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers

7.8 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the 
Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where 
they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 
future residents or neighbouring residents.

60



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 9 -

7.9 Internally, the four western dwellings of the current proposal are identical to those which 
were proposed under the refused First and Second 2020 Applications. Paragraphs 7.14 
to 7.23 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 and 7.12 to 7.15 in Appendix 2 discuss the 
matters relevant to the living conditions of future occupiers. The previous proposal was 
found to be acceptable in these regards. These findings are relevant in relation to 
compliance with the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS), the quality of 
accommodation in terms of outlook, daylight and sunlight, the quantum of amenity space 
provision and compliance with accessibility requirements in line with building regulation 
M4 (2) for the four dwellings. 

7.10 In relation to the two easternmost dwellings, the relevant required overall sizes for 
residential units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following 
table. The relevant dimensions of the proposed scheme are also shown on the table 
below. 

Table 2: Housing Standards

Type Area 
(m2) Bedroom 1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Storage 

area (m2)
Amenity
(m2)

Standard for
3 bed 5 person
(two storeys)

93 11.5m2

Wmin=2.75m
11.5m2

Wmin=2.55m
7.5m2

Wmin=2.15m 2.5 N/A

Proposed 
dwellings A & B
3 bed 5 person
(two storeys)

105 15.5m2

W = 3.8m
11.9 m2

W = 3.3m
9.7m2

W=2.2m 1 At least 
50

7.11 The table shows that the two proposed easternmost dwellings would exceed the 
minimum overall space standard and all bedrooms would exceed the minimum space 
required but would fail to provide internal storage space in line with the minimum 
standard required. Given that both units exceed the minimum overall space standards, 
this shortcoming would not be materially detrimental to living conditions of future 
occupiers subject to a condition to secure the provision of internal storage space in line 
with the NDSS.

7.12 All habitable rooms would benefit from adequate outlook and light. The proposed 
amenity provision would be satisfactory for the level of accommodation proposed for 
these two dwellings. Moreover, similarly to the other four dwellings, these two units 
appear capable of complying with the requirements of building regulation M4 (2) in terms 
of step-free access and adaptability. A condition is recommended in this regard.

7.13 For all proposed dwellings, the situation in relation to noise and disturbance is 
comparable to the situation considered when the 2016 Permission was granted by the 
Inspector. A condition to provide mitigation measures against noise and vibration that 
would be caused by the use of the adjoining rail line is recommended, Subject to such 
a condition, the Council’s Environmental Health service raised no objection. 

7.14 As commented in the previous refusal, the report for the Second 2020 Application, the 
proposed glass balustrade around the proposed rooftop amenity areas would leave 
them exposed to views from the buildings on the opposite side of Station Road. A 
condition is recommended to secure details of screens to protect the quality of the 
amenity spaces.

61



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 10 -

7.15 Overall and particularly bearing in mind the planning history of the site, to which 
significant weight is attached, it is considered that the proposal, subject to conditions, 
would not result in substandard accommodation for future occupiers and would not be 
detrimental to their living conditions. The proposed dwellings would generally comply 
with the NDSS, save for a minor width deficiency in one of the smaller bedrooms of 
dwelling F and the deficiency in internal storage space in dwellings A and B which can 
be rectified with the recommended condition. The proposed units would also have 
appropriate amenity space, subject to appropriate screening, and all habitable areas 
would have adequate outlook, daylight and sunlight. Adequate noise and vibration 
mitigation is recommended to be secured by condition as is the compliance with building 
regulation M4 (2). The proposal is, therefore, subject to conditions, acceptable and 
policy compliant in the above regards.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.16 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document requires all development to be 
appropriate in its setting by respecting neighbouring development and existing 
residential amenities and also: “having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and 
disturbance, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and 
sunlight.”

7.17 Paragraphs of 7.24 to 7.26 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 and paragraphs 7.16 to 
7.17 in Appendix 2 discuss these matters. The First and Second 2020 Applications were 
found to be acceptable in relation to the impact of the development on the residential 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Given that the current proposal is similar in many 
regards, and two dwellings have lower maximum height and smaller mass, the current 
proposal remains equally acceptable. Conditions are recommended in relation to control 
of construction hours and construction method to minimise pollution, noise and 
disturbance during construction. The proposed development is considered acceptable 
and in line with policy in the above regards.

Traffic and Transportation Issues

7.18 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “Development will be 
allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be, physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a 
safe and sustainable manner”. The policy also requires that adequate parking should be 
provided for all development in accordance with the adopted vehicle parking standards.

7.19 Paragraphs 7.27 to 7.28 of Appendix 1 and 7.18 to 7.19 of Appendix 2 discuss the 
reasons why the First and Second 2020 Applications was found to be acceptable in 
these regards. The current scheme would not give rise to any different considerations 
in relation to these matters. Conditions are recommended to ensure the car and cycle 
parking is provided as shown on the plans and that construction would take place without 
material harm to the rail traffic on the adjoining rail line. The proposal would be 
acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.

62



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 11 -

Refuse and Recycling Storage

7.20 According to the policy requirements it is expected that individual dwellings would use 
the Council’s scheme for sack collection from the kerbside. The proposed dwellings 
would be adjacent to the highway and it would be convenient to collect and leave sacks 
there. The proposal shows bin storage areas for all dwellings within the ground floor 
area which is acceptable but not required by policy or guidance. The proposal is 
acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.

Energy and Water Sustainability 

7.21 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 
development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, 
all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon 
dioxide emissions”. The same policy requires all new development to provide “water 
efficient design measures that limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person 
per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption). Such measures will 
include the use of water efficient fittings, appliance and water recycling systems such as 
grey water and rainwater harvesting”.

7.22 No details have been submitted with the application to demonstrate whether the 
proposed development would meet the target of renewable energy sources covering at 
least 10% of the anticipated energy consumption in line with policy requirement or how 
the water consumption would be limited. It is considered that the requirements for 
renewable energy and restrictions on water usage can be controlled with conditions 
which are recommended. This aspect of the proposal is, therefore, considered to be 
acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.

Flooding and surface water drainage

7.23 National policy requires that any development is safe from flooding and does not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. Adequate drainage should be installed to ensure 
that there is no increased risk of flooding on site or elsewhere, including any undue 
discharge of surface water on the highway or the railway. A condition is recommended 
to require details of drainage arrangements incorporating principles of Sustainable 
Drainage Systems. Subject to such a condition, the development would be acceptable 
and policy compliant in these regards.

Ecology - Essex Coast RAMS

7.24 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites 
scoped into the emerging Essex Coast RAMS. It is the Council’s duty as a competent 
authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any 
necessary mitigation and record this decision within the planning documentation. Any 
new residential development has the potential to cause disturbance to European 
designated sites and therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. 
This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. The Essex Coast RAMS SPD, which was adopted by Full Council on 
29 October 2020, requires that a tariff of £125.58 (index linked) is paid per dwelling unit. 

63



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 12 -

This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance with the RAMS 
Partnership Agreement. 

7.25 The applicant has paid the relevant tariff for the Second 2020 Application and requested 
the fee is transferred to this application. The development offers suitable mitigation of 
the in-combination effect of the net increase of six dwellings on habitats and species. 
The development is acceptable and in line with policies in this regard.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.26 This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with 
Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of 
the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is 
being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning 
decisions. The proposed development includes a gross internal area of 1068.12m2, 
which may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £ 27,442.47 (subject to 
confirmation). Any existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies the 
‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be 
deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable 
amount.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, including the relevant 
planning history of the site, it is found that the proposed development is, on balance, 
acceptable and in line with local and national planning policies and guidance. The 
current proposal is considered to have, on balance, overcome the previous reasons for 
refusal in relation to character and appearance, public vistas towards the seafront and 
the significance of The Leas Conservation Area. Furthermore, the proposal is 
considered, to have an acceptable impact on the living conditions of future occupiers. 
The proposal is considered acceptable in all other relevant regards. The proposal makes 
a contribution to the housing needs of the borough through provision of a good standard 
of new family housing which must be weighed in the overall planning balance, albeit the 
weight to be attached to this would be limited in this instance in view of the number of 
units involved. This application is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

9 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 3 years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

02 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans: E 00, E 01, P01 REV A, P02 REV A, P03, P04 REV A, P05, P06 REV 
A, P07, P08 REV A, P09, P10 REV A, P11, P12 REV A, P13, P14 REV A, P15, P16 
REV A, P17, P18 REV B, P19 REV B, P20 REV A, P21 REV B, P22 REV A, 
MGS40163-3DM-01 REV A.

64



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 13 -

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
development plan.

03 The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development hereby 
approved, including roof, walls and fenestration, shall be in accordance with the 
details which have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this condition or such 
alternative details as may be approved under the terms of this condition. The 
development shall be carried out solely in complete accordance with the 
approved details before it is brought into first use.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the 
advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009). 

04 Within the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) following 
the first use of the development hereby approved, a soft landscaping scheme 
shall be implemented and completed in full accordance with details that have 
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The soft landscaping scheme shall include measures to enhance the 
biodiversity on site, details of the species to be planted, the treatment of the 
ground before planting and maintenance details. It should also include details as 
to how the proposed planting of street trees would be achieved.

Within a period of five years from the completion of the development hereby 
approved, or from the date of the planting of any tree or any tree planted in its 
replacement, if any tree planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme is 
removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the local 
planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same 
species and size as that of the original tree shall be planted in the same place or 
in accordance with alternative tree replacement details approved under the scope 
of this planning condition.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the 
advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).

05 The use of the development hereby approved shall not commence until and 
unless a hard landscaping scheme has been carried out and implemented solely 
in full accordance with details which have previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping 
scheme shall include details of materials to be used on hardsurfacing as well as 
elevations and details of materials for any boundary treatment of the site, 
including boundaries within the site. 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the 

65



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 14 -

advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).

06 Notwithstanding the details submitted and otherwise hereby approved, the 
dwellings hereby approved shall not be brought into first use unless internal 
storage space in line with the nationally described space standards, at least 2.5m2 
for all three-bed units and 3m2 for all four-bed units , excluding kitchen cupboards 
and wardrobes less than 0.72m2 in a double bedroom and 0.36m2 in a single 
bedroom, have first been provided and made available on site in line with details 
that have previously been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development hereby approved provide high quality 
internal layouts to meet the needs of future residents in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core 
Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8 of the Development Management 
Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009), the National Housing Standards (2015) and the Technical Housing 
Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015).

07 Notwithstanding the details submitted and otherwise hereby approved, the 
development hereby approved shall be constructed to ensure that the dwellings 
comply with building regulation M4 (2) “accessible and adoptable dwellings” prior 
to their first occupation.

Reason: To ensure the development hereby approved provide high quality and 
flexible internal layouts to meet the changing needs of residents in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the 
Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8 of the Development 
Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).

08 Notwithstanding the details submitted and otherwise hereby approved, no 
development above ground floor slab level shall take place until a detailed noise 
and vibration assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall include noise and vibration 
mitigation measures where needed along with a mechanism for verification of 
their effectiveness on site after they have been carried out. The assessment shall 
also contain the details for a review mechanism. The mitigation proposed shall 
ensure that the rating level of noise within the internal areas determined by the 
procedures in British Standards BS:4142:2014, shall not exceed the safety levels 
advised by the World Health Organisation. The assessment shall be carried out 
by a suitably qualified and experienced consultant. The mitigation measures as 
recommended by the assessment shall be implemented in full prior to the first 
occupation of the dwellings and maintained on site as approved for the lifetime 
of the development.

Reason: In the interest of the living conditions of intended future occupiers of the 
approved development in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).

66



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 15 -

09 Notwithstanding the details shown in the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved none of the buildings hereby granted planning permission shall be 
occupied unless and until plans and other appropriate details which specify the 
size, design, obscurity, materials and location of all privacy screens to be fixed to 
the proposed buildings are submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Before each dwelling hereby approved is occupied the 
privacy screens as applicable to that dwelling shall be implemented in full 
accordance with the details and specifications approved under this condition and 
shall be permanently retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of adjoining residents and the 
living conditions of future occupiers in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3 and DM8 and the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

10 Demolition or construction works for the approved development on site, loading 
or unloading of goods or materials during demolition or construction works shall 
only be taken at or dispatched from the site between 8 am to 6 pm on weekdays, 
between 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays and Public 
Holidays. 

Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015).

11 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until and 
unless a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered 
to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide, amongst 
other things, for: i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors ii) 
loading and unloading of plant and materials iii) storage of plant and materials 
used in constructing the development iv) the erection and maintenance of 
security hoarding v) measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt 
during construction vi) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works that does not allow for the burning of waste 
on site vii) details of drainage/surface water, including foul drainage, to ensure 
the proposal does not discharge onto Network Rail land viii) scaffolding ix) piling 
x) lighting xi) future maintenance of the site.

Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers and the 
highway and rail safety in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies 
DM1, DM3 and DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015).

12 The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until the parking 
provision shown on the approved plans P01 REV A, P02 REV A, P03, P10 REV A 
and P11 has been provided and made available for use on site. The parking 
spaces shall be retained for the lifetime of the development for the purposes of 
car parking solely for residents of the approved dwellings on site and their 
visitors.

67



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 16 -

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate parking in accordance with Policy 
CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM3, DM8 and DM15 of Development 
Management Document (2015).

13 No drainage related works shall take place or installed on site unless and until 
surface water drainage works have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The drainage works shall be carried out solely in full 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development hereby approved. Before any details are submitted to the local 
planning authority an assessment shall be carried out of the potential for 
disposing of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system, having 
regard to Defra's non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 
systems (or any subsequent version), and the results of the assessment shall 
have been provided to the local planning authority. Where a sustainable drainage 
scheme is to be provided, the submitted details shall: 
i) provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method 
employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the 
measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 
waters; 
ii) include a timetable for its implementation; and, 
iii) provide, a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 
development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public 
authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure the approved development does not increase flood risk 
elsewhere in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core 
Strategy (2007) Policies KP1, KP2 and KP3.

14 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved details of energy 
efficiency and other sustainability measures to be included in the scheme, 
including the provision of at least 10% of the energy needs of the development 
hereby approved being provided from onsite renewable sources, shall be 
submitted to, agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented 
on site in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

15 The dwellings hereby approved shall incorporate water efficient design measures 
set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document to limit 
internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when 
including external water consumption), including measures of water efficient 
fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater 
harvesting before they are occupied.

Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 

68



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 17 -

efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2019) and the 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments 
to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning 
Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, 
in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set 
out in a report on the application prepared by officers.

Informatives:

1 Please note that the development which is the subject of this application is liable 
for a charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) and it is the responsibility of the landowner(s) to ensure they have fully 
complied with the requirements of these regulations. A failure to comply with the 
CIL regulations in full can result in a range of penalties. For full planning 
permissions, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued by the Council as soon as 
practicable following this decision notice. For general consents, you are required 
to submit a Notice of Chargeable Development (Form 5) before commencement; 
and upon receipt of this, the Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice including 
details of the chargeable amount and when this is payable. If you have not 
received a CIL Liability Notice by the time you intend to commence development, 
it is imperative that you contact S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk to 
avoid financial penalties for potential failure to comply with the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended). If the chargeable development has already commenced, no 
exemption or relief can be sought in relation to the charge and a CIL Demand 
Notice will be issued requiring immediate payment. Further details on CIL matters 
can be found on the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_inf
rastructure_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil).

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council may seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 
take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths 
in the borough.

3 You attention is drawn to the advice given by Network Rail and you are advised 
to contact the Network Rail’s Asset Protection (ASPRO) team via 
AssetProtectionAnglia@networkrail.co.uk to discuss the scheme in detail, and to 
ascertain the impact the proposed development will have on Network Rail 
infrastructure.

69

mailto:S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil
mailto:AssetProtectionAnglia@networkrail.co.uk


APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 18 -

APPENDIX 1

Delegated Report

Reference: 20/01197/FUL

Application Type: Full Application

Ward: Chalkwell

Proposal: Demolish existing buildings, erect two buildings to form 6 
self-contained three storey dwellings, with associated 
amenity space, landscaping and form vehicular accesses 
onto Station Road

Address: 315 Station Road, Westcliff-On-Sea, Essex

Applicant: Mr Ari Feferkorn

Agent: Mr Greenhalgh of Redwoods Projects Ltd

Consultation Expiry: 2nd September 2020

Expiry Date: 22nd September 2020

Case Officer: Spyros Mouratidis

Plan Nos: E 00, E 01, P01, P02, P03, P04, P05, P06, P07, P08, P09, 
P10, P11, P12, P13, P14, P15, P16, P17, P18, P19, P20, 
P21, P22, P23, P24, P25, P26, R 01, R 02, R 03, R 04, R 
05, R 06, R 07, R 08, R 09, R 10, R 11, R 12 

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION

1 Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is a narrow strip of land on the north side of Station Road. Originally 
a petrol station and formerly a garage, until recently, it was used for a hand car washing 
business. The site is occupied by a single storey building. The site backs onto the railway 
line running along the north side of Station Road. The south side of the road facing the 
site is characterised by three storey mansion blocks of traditional design incorporating 
shops at ground floor level. A four-storey building is located at the corner of Station Road 
with Pembury Road. Pembury Road allows views towards the Thames Estuary. Station 
Road is a classified road. Other than the Leas Conservation Area which lies some 50m 
to the south of the site on Pembury Road, there are no specific policy or other 
designations affecting the site or the surrounding area.

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of six (6no.) three-storey dwellinghouses, 
grouped in two terraces. The existing building on site would be demolished as part of 

70



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 19 -

the proposal. The proposed dwellings would each measure some 11.6m in width by 
6.6m in depth and would be located abutting the boundary of the site with the public 
footpath. The dwellings would have roof gardens on top which would be surrounded by 
a parapet wall of up to 2.5m in height resulting in an overall maximum height of 
approximately 10.6m. The proposed dwellings would be finished with brick over 
decorative timber and metal cladding, timber doors and polyester powder coated 
aluminium windows with iron railings or glazed balustrades.

2.2 The proposed dwellings would accommodate four bedrooms. Five of the dwellings 
would have seven bed spaces and one dwelling would have six bedspaces. Each 
dwelling would have a single, integral garage at ground floor, where it is also proposed 
to accommodate cycle parking and bin storage. All dwellings would be provided with at 
least 51m2 of private amenity spaces in the form of a second floor balcony and a roof 
terrace. The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement. 

2.3 The proposal is an alternative scheme to the extant planning permission 16/01134/OUT 
(the “2016 Permission”) granted on appeal3. The main difference between the two 
schemes is the height, size, scale, form and appearance of the development. The 2016 
Permission allowed for two-storey dwellings measuring up to 7.1m in height. These 
dwellings were of a more rectangular form and of a more rudimentary appearance when 
compared to the current proposal. Details of the 2016 Permission are included in the 
following section. 

3 Relevant Planning History
 

3.1 The relevant planning history of the site is shown on Table 1:
 

Table 3: Relevant Planning History of Application Site

Reference Description Outcome
14/01211/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 

building, erect eight three storey dwelling 
houses with roof terraces to front, 
associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.09.2015]

15/00219/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 
(Outline - Amended Proposal)

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[15.03.2016]

15/00669/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect four three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 
(Outline - Amended Proposal)

Permission Granted
[15.06.2015]

16/01134/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline)(Amended Proposal)

Refused
[07.09.2016]
Appeal Allowed
[18.07.2017]

16/02006/OUT Demolish existing single storey office Refused

3 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982

71



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 20 -

building, erect five two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline) (Amended Proposal)

[30.12.2016]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.07.2017]

20/00993/RES Approval of Reserved Matters (details of 
Landscaping) pursuant to outline Planning 
Permission ref: 16/01134/OUT - Demolish 
existing single storey office building, erect 
six two storey dwellinghouses, associated 
landscaping and form vehicular accesses 
on to Station Road (Outline)(Amended 
Proposal) allowed on Appeal 18 July 2017

Reserved Matters 
Approved
[27.08.2020]

20/01185/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to conditions 14 (Construction 
Method Statement) of planning 
permission 16/01134/OUT allowed on 
Appeal dated 18.07.2017

Pending 
Consideration 

20/01355/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to condition 5 (details of 
materials) of planning permission 
16/01134/OUT allowed on Appeal dated 
18.07.2017

Pending 
Consideration

3.2 While there are other planning history items associated with the application site, they 
are not considered to be relevant to this application. The appeal decision4 allowing the 
extant 2016 Permission is appended to this report as Appendix 1. The extant permission 
is a material planning consideration of significant weight in the determination of this 
application. The other historic applications mentioned on Table 1 are either expired or 
have been refused hence they carry only limited weight for the consideration of this 
application. It is noted that the refused scheme under application 14/01211/OUT (the 
“2014 Application”) is the one that is most comparable to the current proposal. The 
appeal decision5 for the 2014 Application is appended to this report as Appendix 2.

4 Representation Summary

Public Consultation
4.1 Fifty-five (55) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was displayed. 

Representations from five (5) interested parties have been received objecting to the 
proposal. The objecting comments are summarised as follows:

 Impact on character and appearance of the area.
 The proposed dwellings are too deep for the depth of the site.
 Concerns about living conditions of future occupiers.
 The proposed dwellings would be close to the rail line and a pub.
 Parking concerns. 
 More people on site would require additional parking. 
 Impact on highway safety. 
 Public footpath would be blocked.
 Cars would exit from the garage straight on the footpath and the busy road.

4 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982
5 APP/D1590/W/15/3016802

72



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 21 -

 Loss of view.
 Loss of property value. 
 The proposed properties would not be sold.

4.2 Representations from eight (8) interested parties have been received supporting the 
proposal. The supporting comments are summarised as follows:

 The Borough needs spacious new houses suitable for families.
 The project would invigorate the local community.
 Homes occupied by families would result in less crime and anti-social behaviour.
 The proposal would improve the character and appearance of the area.
 The development would regenerate the area and would bring more affluent 

occupiers.
 The site is in a sustainable location.

4.3 The comments have been taken into consideration and the relevant to planning matters 
raised are discussed in the relevant sections of the report. Other than the reasons stated 
in section 9 of this report the objecting points raised by the representations are not found 
to represent material reasons for recommending refusal of the planning application.

Environmental Health
4.4 Object – a detailed noise and vibration assessment is required to establish whether the 

proposal would have a detrimental impact on the amenity of future occupiers. 

Parks
4.5 No objections subject to additional information regarding tree planting on Station Road 

and on the proposed roof terraces. 

Fire Brigade
4.6 No objections.

5 Planning Policy Summary
 

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2019)

5.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP8 
(Dwelling Provision).

5.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 
Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use 
of Land), DM5 (Southend on Sea Historic Environment), DM6 (The Seafront), DM7 
(Dwelling Mix, Size and Type), DM8 (Residential Standards), DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management).

5.5 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.6 National Housing Standards (2015)

5.7 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)

73



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 22 -

5.8 Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2014)

5.9 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)

5.10 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, 
the standard of accommodation for future occupiers, the impact on residential amenity 
of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and transportation issues, refuse and recycling 
storage, energy and water sustainability, water drainage and whether the development 
would be liable for CIL. The planning history is a material consideration in the 
determination of this application, as set out above. 

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states: “Planning policies and decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other users, while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.” 
Furthermore, the NPPF requires development to boost the supply of housing by 
delivering a wide choice of high-quality homes. 

7.2 The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) published by the Government show that 
there is underperformance of housing delivery in the Borough. Similarly, the Council’s 
Five-Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing 
land supply in the Borough. The South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SESHMA) identifies that Southend has a higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a 
housing stock comprised of a greater proportion of one-bed units and smaller properties 
a consequence of which is that there is a lower percentage of accommodation of a 
suitable size for families.

7.3 For the proposed provision of housing the HDT and 5YHLS are weighing in favour of 
the principle of this type of development. The proposed dwellinghouses would be four-
bed, six and seven-person units which are suitable for families. There is a greater need 
for this type of housing as identified by the SESHMA.

7.4 The application site is considered to be previously developed land. Brownfield sites like 
this are where development should be directed according to local and national policies. 
It is noted that the site already benefits from the extant and implementable 2016 
Permission. The principle of the proposed development is acceptable. Other material 
planning considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.5 Good design is a fundamental requirement of new development to achieve high quality 
living environments. Its importance is reflected in the NPPF, in Policies KP2 and CP4 of 
the Core Strategy and also in Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document. 

74



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 23 -

The Design and Townscape Guide also states that: “the Borough Council is committed 
to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments.”

7.6 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that: “The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which 
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.” Policy DM1 
of the Development Management Document states that all development should: “add to 
the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context and 
surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, 
density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and 
detailed design features.”

7.7 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should: “respect the 
character and scale of the existing neighbourhood where appropriate”. Policy CP4 of 
the Core Strategy requires that development proposals should: “maintain and enhance 
the amenities, appeal and character of residential areas, securing good relationships 
with existing development, and respecting the scale and nature of that development”.

7.8 Policy DM6 of the development management document also states that any 
development near the Seafront Area must not detrimentally impact upon the Thames 
Estuary’s openness or views across and backdrops to the River Thames and 
Southend’s beaches

7.9 The Design and Townscape Guide states that: “The successful integration of any new 
development is dependent upon the appropriate scale, height and massing in relation 
to the existing built fabric. Buildings that are over scaled will appear dominant […] the 
easiest option is to draw reference from the surrounding buildings.”

7.10 The site is located a short distance away from The Leas Conservation Area. Section 72 
(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that 
special attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas. This is reinforced by Development 
Management Policy DM5 which states:

1.  All development proposals that affect a heritage asset will be required to include an 
assessment of its significance, and to conserve and enhance its historic and 
architectural character, setting and townscape value.

2. Development proposals that result in the total loss of or substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, including listed buildings and buildings 
within conservation areas, will be resisted, unless there is clear and convincing 
justification that outweighs the harm or loss. Development proposals that are 
demonstrated to result in less than substantial harm to a designated heritage asset 
will be weighed against the impact on the significance of the asset and the public 
benefits of the proposal, and will be resisted where there is no clear and convincing 
justification for this.

7.11 In terms of layout, the proposed development would result in a similar layout as that 
already approved with the 2016 Permission and would be, similarly, acceptable. With 
regard to the proposed scale, the proposal would be of similar width and depth as that 
approved with the 2016 Permission but would result in up to 3.4m of additional height. 

75



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 24 -

While the proposal would, generally, respect the scale of neighbouring buildings to the 
south side of Station Road, it would result in the site appearing overdeveloped. The 
proposed dwellings would abut the boundary of the site with the public highway and 
given the narrowness of the site and the public footpath in this side of Station Road, the 
additional height of the proposal would be oppressive and would loom over passing 
pedestrians and would appear squeezed in the site and cramped. A similar harm was 
identified when the 2014 Application was considered by the Planning Inspector as seen 
in paragraph 10 of Appendix 2. Furthermore, the additional height of this proposal when 
compared to the 2016 Permission, would result in the material obstruction of public 
vistas of the Thames Estuary and the conservation area as experienced from Meteor 
Road and Britannia Road, to the north of the rail line. This would result in less than 
substantial but nevertheless material harm to the historic asset and a significant conflict 
with local policy stipulations which seek to protect views towards the seafront.

7.12 Considering the form of the proposed development, the variation in shape and use of 
recessed balconies would result in an acceptable contemporary form. In terms of 
appearance, the proposal contains well resolved elevations which would feature 
proportionate level of openings. Coupled with the proposed use of materials in a 
contemporary way on the proposed elevations, the proposal would be of an acceptable 
appearance. The proposed materials would not directly reference the palette of 
traditional materials present in the area. Given the isolated location of the site within the 
northern side in this part of Station Road, as well as the contemporary form proposed, 
a variation of materials would not materially harm the character and appearance of the 
area, subject to details of those materials. An indicative landscaping scheme has been 
submitted and would be acceptable subject to additional details. 

7.13 Overall, given that the site can already be developed for a scheme offering a comparable 
level housing, the additional benefits of this proposal would not outweigh the material 
harm identified in the previous paragraphs as a result of the additional scale and height. 
The proposal is unacceptable and contrary to policy in these regards.

Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers

7.14 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the 
Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where 
they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 
future residents or neighbouring residents.

Space Standards

7.15 All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) 
in terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for 
residential units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following 
table. The relevant dimensions of the proposed scheme are also shown on the table 
below. 

Table 4: Housing Standards

Type Area 
(m2) Bedroom 1(2) Bedroom 2 (3) Bedroom 3 & 4 

(1 & 4)
Storage 
area (m2)

Amenity
(m2)

Standard for
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

121 11.5m2

Wmin=2.75m
11.5m2

Wmin=2.55m
7.5m2

Wmin=2.15m 3 N/A

76



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 25 -

Standard for
4 bed 6 person
(three storeys)

112 11.5m2

Wmin=2.75m
11.5m2

Wmin=2.55m
7.5m2

Wmin=2.15m 3 N/A

Proposed 
dwelling A
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

171.6 15.5m2

W = 3.8m

14.4m2

& 11.6m2

W = 3m & 
2.3m

10.2m2

W=2.8m In excess 51.3

Proposed 
dwelling B
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

171.6 15.5m2

W = 3.8m

14.4m2

& 11.6m2

W = 3m & 
2.3m

10.2m2

W=2.8m In excess 56.5

Proposed 
dwelling C
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

171.6 15.5m2

W = 3.8m

14.4m2

& 11.6m2

W = 3m & 
2.3m

10.2m2

W=2.8m In excess 54.1

Proposed 
dwelling D
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

171.6 15.5m2

W = 3.8m

14.4m2

& 11.6m2

W = 3m & 
2.3m

10.2m2

W=2.8m In excess 52

Proposed 
dwelling E
4 bed 7 person
(three storeys)

171.6 15.5m2

W = 3.8m

14.4m2

& 11.6m2

W = 3m & 
2.3m

10.2m2

W=2.8m In excess 57.8

Proposed 
dwelling F
4 bed 6 person
(three storeys)

156.2 12.9m2

W = 3.3m
13.8m2

W = 3.1m

10.2m2 & 
10.1m2

W=2.8m & 2m
In excess 52

7.16 The proposed development would meet the minimum NDSS in all regards save for the 
minimum width required for a single bedroom at proposed dwelling F. Although there is 
a small deficit in that regard, this is only marginal. The proposed dwellings would provide 
adequate space and acceptable living conditions for future occupiers. 

Daylight, Sunlight and Outlook from Habitable Rooms

7.17 All habitable rooms are required to have good outlook and receive enough daylight or 
sunlight. In this instance, all habitable rooms would receive adequate daylight and 
sunlight and would have an acceptable outlook.

Amenity Provision 

7.18 In relation to the provision of amenity space Policy DM8 states that all new dwellings 
should: “Make provision for usable private outdoor amenity space for the enjoyment of 
intended occupiers; for flatted schemes this could take the form of a balcony or easily 
accessible semi-private communal amenity space. Residential schemes with no amenity 
space will only be considered acceptable in exceptional circumstances, the reasons for 
which will need to be fully justified and clearly demonstrated.”

7.19 The proposed dwellings would be provided with private amenity spaces in the form of a 
roof terrace and a second floor balcony. At least 51m2 would be provided for each 
dwelling. The amenity provision would be acceptable for the proposed size of 
accommodation in the proposed dwellings.

77



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 26 -

Noise and disturbance

7.20 Given the location of the site adjacent to the rail line, increased noise and vibration levels 
are expected. The application has not been supported by any noise or vibration impact 
assessment. However, given the extant 2016 Permission, it is accepted that a scheme 
on site can be developed with mitigation measures so that the future occupiers of the 
development would not be detrimentally impacted by the noise and vibration emitted 
from the rail line. The Council’s Environmental Health (EH) Officer has raised an 
objection to the application on the basis that there is no supporting information in this 
regard and no mitigation is offered against expected noise and vibration. It is also noted 
that the World Health Organisation guidelines for the acoustic environment would not 
be able to be achieved when the windows of the proposed property would be open. It is 
noted that similar issues were raised when assessing the application 20/00817/BC3 for 
two dwellings on the opposite side of the rail line at Saxon Gardens. The approach taken 
there was to impose conditions to clarify further the mitigation measures. There the 
installation of an acoustic fence was required. An up to date Noise and Vibration Impact 
Assessment would need to be submitted to clarify which mitigation measures would be 
required. These measures could be secured by condition. On balance and subject to 
such conditions, it is not considered that the identified shortcoming of the proposal would 
have such an impact on the living conditions of its future occupiers as to justify the 
refusal of the application on this ground. 

M4 (2) – Accessibility 

7.21 Development Management Policy DM8, as amended, requires all new homes to be 
accessible and meet the standards set out in Building Regulations M4 (2) Accessible 
and Adaptable Dwellings. This ensures that all new homes are flexible enough meet the 
needs of all generations.

7.22 The proposed dwellings appear capable of complying with the requirements of building 
regulation M4 (2) in terms of step-free access and adaptability. A condition could secure 
compliance if the application is otherwise acceptable. 

7.23 Overall, it is considered that the proposal, on balance, would not result in substandard 
accommodation for future occupiers and would not be detrimental to their living 
conditions. The proposed dwelling would exceed the overall space standards, save for 
a minor width deficit in one of the smaller bedrooms of dwelling F, would have 
appropriate amenity space and all habitable areas would have adequate outlook, 
daylight and sunlight. Adequate noise and vibration mitigation could be secured by 
conditions. The proposal is, therefore, on balance and subject to conditions, acceptable 
and policy compliant in the above regards.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.24 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document requires all development to be 
appropriate in its setting by respecting neighbouring development and existing 
residential amenities and also: “having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and 
disturbance, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and 
sunlight.”

7.25 The proposed dwellings would be located at least 15.3m to the north of properties facing 

78



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 27 -

Station Road and at least 40m to the south of properties facing Britannia Road. Although 
the proposal would have many openings to the north and south, the impact on the 
residential amenity of neighbours in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy would not 
be materially worse than that of the 2016 Permission which was found to be acceptable. 
In terms of outlook, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, daylight and sunlight, 
the separation distance between the site and neighbouring properties would be sufficient 
to result in an acceptable relationship. 

7.26 The proposed construction could potentially cause some pollution, noise and 
disturbance but if the proposal were otherwise acceptable a condition could be imposed 
to control those issues. The proposed use as dwellinghouses would not give rise to any 
undue pollution, noise or disturbance. The proposed development is considered 
acceptable and in line with policy in the above regards.

Traffic and Transportation Issues

7.27 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “Development will be 
allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be, physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a 
safe and sustainable manner”. The policy also requires that adequate parking should be 
provided for all development in accordance with the adopted vehicle parking standards.

7.28 Assessed against parking standards, outside of the central area the minimum parking 
requirements for dwellings with two or more bedrooms is two spaces per unit. The 
proposed development would accommodate one space per unit which is not dissimilar 
to the extant 2016 Permission. Given the sustainable location of the proposal, this 
shortage of parking is not considered materially harmful to the parking conditions and 
highway safety of the area. Two cycle spaces would be provided for each dwelling in 
excess of policy requirements. The proposal would be acceptable and policy compliant 
in these regards.

Refuse and Recycling Storage

7.29 According to the policy requirements it is expected that individual dwellings would be 
using the Council’s scheme for sack collection from the kerbside. The proposed 
dwellings would be adjacent to the highway and it would be convenient to collect and 
leave sacks there. The proposal shows bin storage areas for all dwellings within the 
ground floor area which is acceptable but not required. The proposal is acceptable and 
policy compliant in this regard.

Energy and Water Sustainability 

7.30 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 
development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, 
all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon 
dioxide emissions”. The same policy requires all new development to provide “water 
efficient design measures that limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person 
per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption). Such measures will 
include the use of water efficient fittings, appliance and water recycling systems such as 
grey water and rainwater harvesting”.

79



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 28 -

7.31 No details have been submitted with the application to demonstrate whether the 
proposed development would meet the target of renewable energy sources covering at 
least 10% of the anticipated energy consumption in line with policy requirement or how 
the water consumption would be limited. It is considered that the requirements for 
renewable energy and restrictions on water usage could be controlled with conditions. 
This aspect of the proposal is, therefore, considered to be acceptable and policy 
compliant in these regards.

Flooding and surface water drainage

7.32 National policy requires that any development is safe from flooding and does not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. Adequate drainage should be installed to ensure 
that there is no increased risk of flooding on site or elsewhere, including any undue 
discharge of surface water on the highway or the railway. Details of drainage 
arrangements incorporating principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems could be 
secured by condition had the proposal been otherwise acceptable. Subject to such a 
condition, the development would be acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.33 This application is CIL liable. If the application had been recommended for approval, a 
CIL charge would have been payable. If an appeal is lodged and subsequently allowed, 
the CIL liability will be applied. Any revised application may also be CIL liable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that the 
proposed development is unacceptable and contrary to local and national planning 
policies. The proposed development would result in material, albeit less than substantial 
harm to The Leas Conservation Area and would materially harm the character and 
appearance of the area as it would materially obscure public views towards the seafront 
and would result in the overdevelopment of the site. Whilst the proposal is acceptable 
in other regards and would result in some provision of housing, the benefits of the 
proposal do not outweigh the identified harm, particularly given that an acceptable 
scheme for the same amount of housing already benefits from planning permission. The 
application is, therefore, recommended for refusal.

9 Recommendation

9.1 REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the following reasons:

01 The proposed development, by reason of its height and scale, would result in the 
overdevelopment of the site, appearing cramped within the narrow application 
site, and would obscure public vistas towards the seafront and Thames Estuary 
and The Leas Conservation Area from Britannia Road and Meteor Road to the 
material detriment of the character and appearance of the site and the wider area. 
The proposal would also result in material albeit less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area with no public benefits 
outweighing the identified harm. This is unacceptable and contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea 
Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3, DM5 and DM6 of the Southend-on-Sea 

80



APPENDIX 1 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 29 -

Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
National Design Guide (2019) and the Southend Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009). 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and 
determining the application within a timely manner, clearly setting out the 
reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity to consider the harm 
caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision to the proposal. The 
detailed analysis is set out in a report prepared by officers. In the circumstances 
the proposal is not considered to be sustainable development. The Local 
Planning Authority is willing to discuss the best course of action via the pre-
application service available at 
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_pl
anning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2

Informatives:

1 Please note that this application would have been liable for a payment under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) if planning 
permission had been granted. Therefore, if an appeal is lodged and subsequently 
allowed the CIL liability will be applied. Any revised application may also be CIL 
liable.

81

https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2


APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 30 -

APPENDIX 2

Delegated Report

Reference: 20/01608/FUL

Application Type: Full Application

Ward: Chalkwell

Proposal: Demolish existing buildings, erect no.6 three storey 
dwellinghouses with associated amenity space, landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses onto Station Road (Amended 
Proposal)

Address: 315 Station Road, Westcliff-On-Sea, Essex

Applicant: Mr Ari Feferkorn

Agent: Mr Greenhalgh of Redwoods Projects Ltd

Consultation Expiry: 4th November 2020

Expiry Date: 26th November 2020

Case Officer: Spyros Mouratidis

Plan Nos: E 00, E 01, P01, P02, P03, P04, P05, P06, P07, P08, P09, 
P10, P11, P12, P13, P14, P15, P16, P17, P18, P19, P20, 
P21, P22, P23

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION

1 Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is a narrow strip of land on the north side of Station Road. Originally 
a petrol station and formerly a garage, until recently, it was used for a hand car washing 
business. The site is occupied by a single storey building. The site backs onto the railway 
line running along the north side of Station Road. The south side of the road facing the 
site is characterised by three storey mansion blocks of traditional design incorporating 
shops at ground floor level. A four-storey building is located at the corner of Station Road 
with Pembury Road. Pembury Road allows views towards the Thames Estuary. Station 
Road is a classified road. Other than the Leas Conservation Area which lies some 50m 
to the south of the site on Pembury Road, there are no specific policy or other 
designations affecting the site or the surrounding area.

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of six (6no.) three-storey dwellinghouses, 
grouped in two terraces. The existing building on site would be demolished as part of 
the proposal. The proposed dwellings would each measure some 11.6m in width by 

82



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 31 -

6.6m in depth and would be located abutting the boundary of the site with the public 
footpath. The dwellings would have roof gardens on top which would be surrounded by 
a glazed balustrade 1m in height resulting in an overall maximum height of 
approximately 9.2m. The proposed dwellings would be finished with brick over 
decorative timber and metal cladding, timber doors and polyester powder coated 
aluminium windows with iron railings or glazed balustrades.

2.2 The proposed dwellings would accommodate four bedrooms. Five of the dwellings 
would have seven bed spaces and one dwelling would have six bedspaces. Each 
dwelling would have a single, integral garage at ground floor, where it is also proposed 
to accommodate cycle parking and bin storage. All dwellings would be provided with at 
least 51m2 of private amenity spaces in the form of a second floor balcony and a roof 
terrace. The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement. 

2.3 The proposal is an alternative scheme to the extant planning permission 16/01134/OUT 
(the “2016 Permission”) granted on appeal6. The main difference between the two 
schemes is the height, size, scale, form and appearance of the development. The 2016 
Permission allowed for two-storey dwellings measuring up to 7.1m in height. These 
dwellings were of a more rectangular form and of a more rudimentary appearance when 
compared to the current proposal. Details of the 2016 Permission are included in the 
following section. 

2.4 This proposal is also an amended scheme following the refusal of planning application 
20/01197/FUL (the “2020 Application). The difference between this proposal and the 
previously refused scheme is the overall height which has been reduced from 10.6m to 
9.2m with the removal of the parapet wall. It is noted that the proposed plans are 
inaccurate as they do not show the structure on top of the proposed building which would 
accommodate the staircase to the rooftop. Furthermore, the submitted elevation plans 
show two lines which correspond with the maximum height of two previously approved 
schemes. The line for the higher scheme is slightly misleading as the layout of that 
scheme is not the same as the layout of the 2016 Permission and the current proposal. 
The lower line shows the height of the 2016 Permission rather than of the 2020 
Application. Those discrepancies do not affect the ability to consider the impacts of the 
proposed development.

3 Relevant Planning History
 

3.1 The relevant planning history of the site is shown on Table 1:
 

Table 5: Relevant Planning History of Application Site

Reference Description Outcome
14/01211/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 

building, erect eight three storey dwelling 
houses with roof terraces to front, 
associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.09.2015]

15/00219/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 

Refused
[16.04.2015]
Appeal Dismissed
[15.03.2016]

6 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982

83



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 32 -

(Outline - Amended Proposal)
15/00669/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 

building, erect four three storey dwelling 
houses, associated landscaping and form 
vehicular accesses on to Station Road 
(Outline - Amended Proposal)

Permission Granted
[15.06.2015]

16/01134/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect six two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline)(Amended Proposal)

Refused
[07.09.2016]
Appeal Allowed
[18.07.2017]

16/02006/OUT Demolish existing single storey office 
building, erect five two storey 
dwellinghouses, associated landscaping 
and form vehicular accesses on to Station 
Road (Outline) (Amended Proposal)

Refused
[30.12.2016]
Appeal Dismissed
[18.07.2017]

20/00993/RES Approval of Reserved Matters (details of 
Landscaping) pursuant to outline Planning 
Permission ref: 16/01134/OUT - Demolish 
existing single storey office building, erect 
six two storey dwellinghouses, associated 
landscaping and form vehicular accesses 
on to Station Road (Outline)(Amended 
Proposal) allowed on Appeal 18 July 2017

Reserved Matters 
Approved
[27.08.2020]

20/01185/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to conditions 14 (Construction 
Method Statement) of planning 
permission 16/01134/OUT allowed on 
Appeal dated 18.07.2017

Details Approved
[25.09.2020]

20/01355/AD Application for approval of details 
pursuant to condition 5 (details of 
materials) of planning permission 
16/01134/OUT allowed on Appeal dated 
18.07.2017

Details Approved
[03.11.2020]

20/01197/FUL Demolish existing buildings, erect two 
buildings to form 6 self-contained three 
storey dwellings, with associated amenity 
space, landscaping and form vehicular 
accesses onto Station Road

Refused 
[22.09.2020]

3.2 While there are other planning history items associated with the application site, they 
are not considered to be relevant to this application. The officer’s report for the 2020 
Application is appended to this report as Appendix 1. In summary, the 2020 Application 
was refused because:

“The proposed development, by reason of its height and scale, would result in the 
overdevelopment of the site, appearing cramped within the narrow application site, and 
would obscure public vistas towards the seafront and Thames Estuary and The Leas 
Conservation Area from Britannia Road and Meteor Road to the material detriment of 
the character and appearance of the site and the wider area. The proposal would also 
result in material albeit less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of 
the conservation area with no public benefits outweighing the identified harm.”

84



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 33 -

3.3 The appeal decision7 allowing the extant 2016 Permission is appended to this report as 
Appendix 2. The extant permission is a material planning consideration of significant 
weight in the determination of this application. The other historic applications mentioned 
in Table 1 are either expired or have been refused hence they carry only limited weight 
for the consideration of this application. It is noted that the refused scheme under 
application 14/01211/OUT (the “2014 Application”) is the one that is most comparable 
to the current proposal. The appeal decision8 for the 2014 Application is appended to 
this report as Appendix 3. It should be noted that application 15/00669/OUT (the “2015 
Permission”) was for a scheme of four dwellings, arranged as two pairs of semi-
detached properties, located differently within the site when compared to the current 
proposal. 

4 Representation Summary

Public Consultation
4.1 Fifty-five (55) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was displayed. 

Representations from six (6) interested parties have been received objecting to the 
proposal. The objecting comments are summarised as follows:

 Impact on character and appearance of the area.
 Impact on the Leas Conservation Area.
 The proposed dwellings are too deep for the depth of the site.
 Concerns about living conditions of future occupiers.
 The roof top terraces would affect the privacy and overlook neighbouring 

occupiers.
 The proposed dwellings would be close to the rail line and a pub.
 Parking concerns. 
 More people on site would require additional parking. 
 Impact on highway safety. 
 Public footpath would be blocked.
 Cars would exit from the garage straight on the footpath and the busy road.
 No clear details regarding waste and refuse storage.
 Loss of view.
 Loss of property value. 
 The proposed properties would not be sold.
 The applicant tries to circumvent the system by increasing the occupancy on site 

when compared to the approved scheme.

4.2 The comments have been taken into consideration and those relevant to planning 
matters are discussed in the relevant sections of the report. Other than the reasons 
stated in section 9 of this report the objecting points raised by the representations are 
not found to represent material reasons for recommending refusal of the planning 
application in the circumstances of this case.

Parks
4.3 No objections subject to additional information regarding tree planting on Station Road 

and on the proposed roof terraces. 

7 APP/D1590/W/17/3170982
8 APP/D1590/W/15/3016802

85



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 34 -

Fire Safety Officer
4.4 No objections.

Network Rail
4.5 No objections subject to informatives. 

5 Planning Policy Summary
 

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2019)

5.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP8 
(Dwelling Provision).

5.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 
Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use 
of Land), DM5 (Southend on Sea Historic Environment), DM6 (The Seafront), DM7 
(Dwelling Mix, Size and Type), DM8 (Residential Standards), DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management).

5.5 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.6 National Housing Standards (2015)

5.7 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)

5.8 Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2014)

5.9 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)

5.10 Essex Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020)

5.11 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, 
the standard of accommodation for future occupiers, the impact on residential amenity 
of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and transportation issues, refuse and recycling 
storage, energy and water sustainability, water drainage, ecology and compliance with 
the Essex Coast RAMS SPD and whether the development would be liable for CIL. The 
planning history is a material consideration in the determination of this application, as 
set out above. 

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

86



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 35 -

7.1 Paragraphs 7.1 to 7.4 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 discuss the principle of the 
development applied for within the 2020 Application which was found to be acceptable. 
The principle for this development is equally acceptable. Other material planning 
considerations are discussed in the following sections of the report.

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2 Good design is a fundamental requirement of new development to achieve high quality 
living environments. Its importance is reflected in the NPPF, in Policies KP2 and CP4 of 
the Core Strategy and also in Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document. 
The Design and Townscape Guide also states that: “the Borough Council is committed 
to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments.”

7.3 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that: “The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which 
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.” Policy DM1 
of the Development Management Document states that all development should: “add to 
the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context and 
surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, 
density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and 
detailed design features.”

7.4 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should: “respect the 
character and scale of the existing neighbourhood where appropriate”. Policy CP4 of 
the Core Strategy requires that development proposals should: “maintain and enhance 
the amenities, appeal and character of residential areas, securing good relationships 
with existing development, and respecting the scale and nature of that development”.

7.5 Policy DM6 of the development management document also states that any 
development near the Seafront Area must not detrimentally impact upon the Thames 
Estuary’s openness or views across and backdrops to the River Thames and 
Southend’s beaches

7.6 The Design and Townscape Guide states that: “The successful integration of any new 
development is dependent upon the appropriate scale, height and massing in relation 
to the existing built fabric. Buildings that are over scaled will appear dominant […] the 
easiest option is to draw reference from the surrounding buildings.”

7.7 The site is located a short distance away from The Leas Conservation Area. Section 72 
(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that 
special attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas. This is reinforced by Development 
Management Policy DM5 which states:

3.  All development proposals that affect a heritage asset will be required to include an 
assessment of its significance, and to conserve and enhance its historic and 
architectural character, setting and townscape value.

4. Development proposals that result in the total loss of or substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, including listed buildings and buildings 
within conservation areas, will be resisted, unless there is clear and convincing 

87



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 36 -

justification that outweighs the harm or loss. Development proposals that are 
demonstrated to result in less than substantial harm to a designated heritage asset 
will be weighed against the impact on the significance of the asset and the public 
benefits of the proposal, and will be resisted where there is no clear and convincing 
justification for this.

7.8 Paragraphs 7.5 to 7.13 of the officer’s report for the 2020 Application at Appendix 1 
explain the reasons why the previously refused scheme’s design and impact on the 
character and appearance of the area were found to be unacceptable. The findings of 
that report are relevant to the extent that the difference between the current proposal 
and the refused scheme is only minor and relates to replacement of the formerly 
proposed parapet wall from the top part of the proposed building by a glass balustrade. 
The layout, landscaping and choice of materials of the proposed development are 
identical and remain acceptable. The proposed form is comparable to that of the 
previous scheme and is also acceptable.

7.9 The scale has not been altered to a significant degree. It is noted that whilst the top of 
the building would be more lightweight when compared to the previously refused 
scheme, it would result in 2m additional height when compared to the extant 2016 
Permission, notwithstanding the additional height from the structure which would 
accommodate the staircase. Similarly, to the previously refused scheme, while the 
proposal would, generally, respect the scale of neighbouring buildings to the south side 
of Station Road, it would result in the site appearing overdeveloped. The proposed 
dwellings would abut the boundary of the site with the public highway and given the 
narrowness of the site and the public footpath on this side of Station Road, the additional 
height of the proposal would be oppressive, and would loom over passing pedestrians 
and the development would appear squeezed and cramped on the site. Furthermore, 
the additional height of this proposal when compared to the 2016 Permission, would 
result in material obstruction of public vistas of the Thames Estuary and the conservation 
area as experienced from Meteor Road and Britannia Road, to the north of the rail line. 
This would result in less than substantial harm to the historic asset and a significant 
conflict with local policy stipulations which seek to protect views towards the seafront.

7.10 The applicant has shown a line on the submitted elevation drawings marking the 
maximum height of the scheme approved under the 2015 Permission. It should be noted 
that the 2015 Permission was granted in June 2015, before the adoption of the 
Development Management Document in July 2015. Furthermore, although the 
maximum height of that scheme was as shown by the line on the elevation drawings, 
the drawings fail to show the outline of that proposal which was a significantly narrower 
development. As a result of its width, it interfered less with the public views towards the 
estuary and the Conservation Area. 

7.11 Overall, given that the site can already be developed for a scheme offering a comparable 
level of housing, the additional benefits of this proposal would not outweigh the material 
harm identified in the previous paragraphs as a result of the additional scale and height. 
The current proposal would fail to address the previous reason for refusal. The proposal 
is unacceptable and contrary to policy in these regards.

Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers

7.12 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the 
Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where 

88



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 37 -

they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 
future residents or neighbouring residents.

7.13 Internally, the current proposal is identical as the refused one under the 2020 
Application. Paragraphs 7.14 to 7.23 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 discuss the 
matters relevant to the living conditions of future occupiers. The previous proposal was 
found to be acceptable in these regards. These findings are relevant in relation to 
compliance with the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS), the quality of 
accommodation in terms of outlook, daylight and sunlight, the quantum of amenity space 
provision, noise and disturbance and compliance with accessibility requirements in line 
with building regulation M4 (2). 

7.14 The current proposal has replaced the proposed parapet wall on top of the proposed 
buildings with glass balustrade. It is considered that these arrangements would leave 
the amenity spaces on top of the buildings exposed to views from the buildings on the 
opposite side of Station Road. As a minimum the balustrade should be of obscured 
glazing and a potentially higher balustrade to ensure the quality of those areas is of an 
acceptable quality for the future occupiers of the proposal. This matter could be 
addressed with a condition if the application were otherwise acceptable. 

7.15 Overall, it is considered that the proposal, on balance, would not result in substandard 
accommodation for future occupiers and would not be detrimental to their living 
conditions. The proposed dwellings would exceed the overall space standards, save for 
a minor width deficiency in one of the smaller bedrooms of dwelling F, would have 
appropriate amenity space, subject to condition, and all habitable areas would have 
adequate outlook, daylight and sunlight. Adequate noise and vibration mitigation could 
be secured by conditions. The proposal is, therefore, on balance and subject to 
conditions, acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.16 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document requires all development to be 
appropriate in its setting by respecting neighbouring development and existing 
residential amenities and also: “having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and 
disturbance, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and 
sunlight.”

7.17 Paragraphs of 7.24 to 7.26 of the Officer’s report in Appendix 1 discuss these matters. 
The 2020 Application was found to be acceptable in relation to the impact of the 
development on the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Given that the 
current proposal is very similar, save for the lower maximum height, the current proposal 
remains equally acceptable. The proposed development is considered acceptable and 
in line with policy in the above regards.

Traffic and Transportation Issues

7.18 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “Development will be 
allowed where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be, physical and 
environmental capacity to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a 
safe and sustainable manner”. The policy also requires that adequate parking should be 
provided for all development in accordance with the adopted vehicle parking standards.

89



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 38 -

7.19 Paragraphs 7.27 to 7.28 of Appendix 1 discuss the reasons why the 2020 Application 
was found to be acceptable in these regards. Given that the current scheme would not 
give rise to any different considerations in relation to these matters, the proposal would 
be acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.

Refuse and Recycling Storage

7.20 According to the policy requirements it is expected that individual dwellings would be 
using the Council’s scheme for sack collection from the kerbside. The proposed 
dwellings would be adjacent to the highway and it would be convenient to collect and 
leave sacks there. The proposal shows bin storage areas for all dwellings within the 
ground floor area which is acceptable but not required. The proposal is acceptable and 
policy compliant in this regard.

Energy and Water Sustainability 

7.21 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 
development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, 
all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon 
dioxide emissions”. The same policy requires all new development to provide “water 
efficient design measures that limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person 
per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption). Such measures will 
include the use of water efficient fittings, appliance and water recycling systems such as 
grey water and rainwater harvesting”.

7.22 No details have been submitted with the application to demonstrate whether the 
proposed development would meet the target of renewable energy sources covering at 
least 10% of the anticipated energy consumption in line with policy requirement or how 
the water consumption would be limited. It is considered that the requirements for 
renewable energy and restrictions on water usage could be controlled with conditions. 
This aspect of the proposal is, therefore, considered to be acceptable and policy 
compliant in these regards.

Flooding and surface water drainage

7.23 National policy requires that any development is safe from flooding and does not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. Adequate drainage should be installed to ensure 
that there is no increased risk of flooding on site or elsewhere, including any undue 
discharge of surface water on the highway or the railway. Details of drainage 
arrangements incorporating principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems could be 
secured by condition had the proposal been otherwise acceptable. Subject to such a 
condition, the development would be acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.

Ecology - Essex Coast RAMS

7.24 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites 
scoped into the emerging Essex Coast RAMS. It is the Council’s duty as a competent 
authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any 
necessary mitigation and record this decision within the planning documentation. Any 
new residential development has the potential to cause disturbance to European 

90



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 39 -

designated sites and therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. 
This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. The Essex Coast RAMS SPD, which was adopted by Full Council on 
29 October 2020, requires that a tariff of £125.58 (index linked) is paid per dwelling unit. 
This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance with the RAMS 
Partnership Agreement. 

7.25 The applicant has paid the relevant tariff. The development offers suitable mitigation of 
the in-combination effect of the net increase of six dwellings on habitats and species. 
The development is acceptable and in line with policies in this regard.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.26 This application is CIL liable. If the application had been recommended for approval, a 
CIL charge would have been payable. If an appeal is lodged and subsequently allowed, 
the CIL liability will be applied. Any revised application may also be CIL liable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, including the relevant 
planning history of the site, it is found that the proposed development is unacceptable 
and contrary to local and national planning policies. The proposed development would 
result in material, albeit less than substantial harm to The Leas Conservation Area and 
would materially harm the character and appearance of the area as it would materially 
obscure public views towards the seafront and would result in the overdevelopment of 
the site. Whilst the proposal is acceptable in other regards and would result in some 
provision of housing, the benefits of the proposal do not outweigh the identified harm, 
particularly given that an acceptable scheme for the same amount of housing already 
benefits from planning permission. The application is, therefore, recommended for 
refusal.

9 Recommendation

9.1 REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the following reasons:

01 The proposed development, by reason of its height and scale, would result in 
overdevelopment of the site, appearing cramped within the narrow application 
site, and would obscure public vistas towards the seafront and Thames Estuary 
and The Leas Conservation Area from Britannia Road and Meteor Road to the 
material detriment of the character and appearance of the site and the wider area. 
The proposal would also result in material albeit less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area with no public benefits 
outweighing the identified harm. This is unacceptable and contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea 
Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1, DM3, DM5 and DM6 of the Southend-on-Sea 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
National Design Guide (2019) and the Southend Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009). 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and 
determining the application within a timely manner, clearly setting out the 

91



APPENDIX 2 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 40 -

reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity to consider the harm 
caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision to the proposal. The 
detailed analysis is set out in a report prepared by officers. In the circumstances 
the proposal is not considered to be sustainable development. The Local 
Planning Authority is willing to discuss the best course of action via the pre-
application service available at 
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_pl
anning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2

Informatives:

1 Please note that this application would have been liable for a payment under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) if planning 
permission had been granted. Therefore, if an appeal is lodged and subsequently 
allowed the CIL liability will be applied. Any revised application may also be CIL 
liable.

92

https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2
https://www.southend.gov.uk/info/200155/make_a_planning_application_and_planning_advice/365/planning_advice_and_guidance/2


APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 41 -

APPENDIX 3

93



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 42 -94



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 43 -95



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 44 -96



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 45 -97



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 46 -98



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 47 -99



APPENDIX 3 - Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 20/02207/FUL

- 48 -100



3
0
8

3
1
0

3
1
8

3
1
2

3
0
6

3
1
4

3
1
6

3
0
2

304

S
L

m
e
tr
e
s

0
1
0

2
0

M
a
p
S
e
rv
e

©
�C
ro
w
n
�c
o
p
yr
ig
h
t�
2
0
2
0
�O
rd
n
a
n
c
e
�S
u
rv
e
y�
1
0
0
0
5
3
1
4
3

37

42c

3
0
8

3
1
0

3
3
0

3
1
8

3
1
2

3
0
6

3
2
8

3
1
4

3
1
6

3
0
2

304

S
L

2
8
8

2
9
2

2
8
4

2
9
0

2
8
6

46
to
42

2
8
2

43
S
L

L
B

586450586450

586475586475

586500586500

586525586525

586550586550

1
8
5
5
0
0

1
8
5
5
0
0

1
8
5
5
2
5

1
8
5
5
2
5

1
8
5
5
5
0

1
8
5
5
5
0

1
8
5
5
7
5

1
8
5
5
7
5

m
e
tr
e
s

0
1
0

2
0

586448

1
8
5
4
8
8

586448

1
8
5
5
8
8

586551

1
8
5
5
8
8

586551

1
8
5
4
8
8

T
Q
8
6
8
5

T
Q
8
6
8
5

T
Q
8
6
8
5

T
Q
8
6
8
5

M
a
p
S
e
rv
e

©
�C
ro
w
n
�c
o
p
yr
ig
h
t�
2
0
2
0
�O
rd
n
a
n
c
e
�S
u
rv
e
y�
1
0
0
05

3
1
4
3

L O
C

A
T

IO
N
�P
LA
N

1:
12

50
�@

�A
3

B
L

O
C

K
�P
LA
N

1:
50

0�
@

�A
3

N
N

A
ny
�e
rr
or
s�
on
�D
im
en
si
on
s�
to
�b
e�
re
po
rt
ed
�to
�th
e

A
rc
hi
te
ct
�p
rio
r�
to
�c
om
m
en
ce
m
en
t�o
f�W

or
ks
.

D
im
en
si
on
s�
an
d�
ar
ea
s�
ar
e�
ba
se
d�
on
�s
ur
ve
y�
in
fo
rm
at
io
n.

T
hi
s�
dr
aw
in
g�
is
�c
op
yr
ig
ht
�©
�R
ed
w
oo
ds
�P
ro
je
ct
s.

A
ll�
di
m
en
si
on
s�
to
�b
e�
ch
ec
ke
d�
on
�s
ite
�P
rio
r�w
or
k.

ad
dr
es
s.
��4
�G
ro
sv
en
or
�W
ay
�-
�E
5�
9N
D
�-
�L
on
do
n

te
l.�

���
02
0�
37
81
�8
00
8

m
ai
l.

���
of
fic
e@

re
dw
oo
ds
pr
oj
ec
ts
.c
o.
uk

w
eb
.

���
w
w
w
.re
dw
oo
ds
pr
oj
ec
ts
.c
o.
uk

R
E
F
E
R
E
N
C
E
:
31
5�
S
T
A
T
IO
N
�R
O
A
D

W
E
S
T
C
LI
FF
�O
N
�S
E
A
�-
�S
S
0�
8S
P

T
IT
LE
:

P
R
O
JE
C
T
�N

O
34
0

D
A
T
E
:

23
-0
7-
20
20

N
A
M
E
:

E
�0

0

LO
C
A
T
IO
N
�&
�B
LO
C
K

P
LA
N
S

101



This page is intentionally left blank



E
xi
st
in
g
G
ro
u
n
d
F
lo
o
rP
la
n
1
:5
0

0
1

2
3

4
5

W
C

o
ff
ic
e

s
to
re

K
itc
h
e
n

st
o
re

s
to
re

E
xi
st
in
g
W
e
s
tF
a
ci
n
g
E
le
va
ti
o
n
1
:1
0
0

E
xi
st
in
g
S
o
u
th
F
a
ci
n
g
E
le
va
tio
n
1
:1
0
0

E
xi
st
in
g
E
a
st
F
a
ci
n
g
E
le
va
ti
o
n
1
:1
0
0

E
xi
st
in
g
N
o
rt
h
F
a
c
in
g
E
le
va
tio
n
1
:1
0
0

N
o
rt
h

A
ny

�e
rr

or
s�

on
�D

im
en

si
on

s�
to

�b
e�

re
po

rte
d�

to
�th

e
A

rc
hi

te
ct

�p
rio

r�
to

�c
om

m
en

ce
m

en
t�o

f�W
or

ks
.

D
im

en
si

on
s�

an
d�

ar
ea

s�
ar

e�
ba

se
d�

on
�s

ur
ve

y�
in

fo
rm

at
io

n.
T

hi
s�

dr
aw

in
g�

is
�c

op
yr

ig
ht

�©
�R

ed
w

oo
ds

�P
ro

je
ct

s.
A

ll�
di

m
en

si
on

s�
to

�b
e�

ch
ec

ke
d�

on
�s

ite
�P

rio
r�

w
or

k.

ad
dr

es
s.

��4
�G

ro
sv

en
or

�W
ay

�-�
E

5�
9N

D
�-�

Lo
nd

on
te

l.�
���

02
0�

37
81

�8
00

8
m

ai
l.

���
of

fic
e@

re
dw

oo
ds

pr
oj

ec
ts

.c
o.

uk
w

eb
.

���
w

w
w

.r
ed

w
oo

ds
pr

oj
ec

ts
.c

o.
uk

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
:

T
IT

LE
:

P
R

O
JE

C
T

�N
O

34
0

D
A

T
E

:
23

-0
7-

20
20

N
A

M
E

:
E

�0
1

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

�D
R

A
W

IN
G

S
F

lo
or

�P
la

ns

2
5m

1
0

sc
al

e
1:

10
0�

@
A

3

31
5�

S
T

A
TI

O
N

�R
O

A
D

W
E

S
T

C
LI

F
F�

O
N

�S
E

A
�-

�S
S

0�
8S

P

N

103



This page is intentionally left blank



+0.00

+20

+20

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE: 07-12-2020

NAME: P 01 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Masterplan - Ground Floor

4 10m20
scale
1:200 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

-100-100 -100 -100 -100 -100

+0.00+0.00

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA

UNIT 315A
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315B
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315C
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315D
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315E
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315F
ENTRANCE

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

MASTERPLAN

N

STATION ROAD

RAILWAYS

BUILDING  01BUILDING  02

+20

105



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE: 07-12-2020

NAME: P 02 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

+0.00

+20

+20

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

-100 -100 -100

+0.00
+0.00

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA

UNIT 315A
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315B
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315C
ENTRANCE

GROUND  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

N

BOUNDARY LINE

RAILWAYS

STATION ROAD

PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALKPUBLIC SIDEWALK

SEC B

SEC B

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

+20

106



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 03

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

GROUND  FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

-100-100 -100

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA PRIVATE PARKING AREA

UNIT 315D
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315E
ENTRANCE

UNIT 315F
ENTRANCE

RAILWAYS

STATION ROAD

BOUNDARY LINE

PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALK

SEC C

SEC C

07-12-2020

107



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 04 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

FIRST  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+2670

+2670

SEC B

SEC B

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

TERRACE

+2670

+2670

07-12-2020

+2670

+2670

BALCONY

108



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 05

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

FIRST FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

SEC C

SEC C

07-12-2020

109



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 06 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

SECOND  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+5320

+5320

BALCONY TERRACE

SEC B

SEC B

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

+5350

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

+5820ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING +5320 +5320

07-12-2020

+5350

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

+5820ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING +5320 +5320

110



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 07

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

SECOND FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320+5320

BALCONY BALCONY TERRACE

SEC C

SEC C

07-12-2020

111



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 08 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

GARDEN ROOF  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+8100

ROOF  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+8070 +8570+8070

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS

SEC B

SEC B

SEC B

SEC B

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

SE
C 

A

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING

Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS

07-12-2020

Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS

112



+8100 +8100

Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 09

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

GARDEN ROOF FLOOR
BUILDING  02 N

ROOF FLOOR
BUILDING  02

+8070

+8070 +8070

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS Staircase roof with SOLAR PANELS

SEC C

SEC C

SEC C

SEC C

+8070 +8570

+8070 +8570 +8070 +8570

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING

Glass balustrade

07-12-2020

113



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 10 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

+0.00

+20 +20

+0.00

+0.00

+20 +20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

-100 -100 -100

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

PRIVATE PARKING AREA
22.91 m²

FLAT 315A
ENTRANCE

FLAT 315B
ENTRANCE

FLAT 315C
ENTRANCE

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

GROUND  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

N

BOUNDARY LINE

RAILWAYS

STATION ROAD

PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALKPUBLIC SIDEWALK

BEDROOM 1
10.26 m²

LAUNDRY
4.01 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
20.60 m²

BATHROOM 1
5.04 m²

FLAT 315C
REAR

ENTRANCE

+20

+0.00

PRIVATE PARKING AREA
22.91 m²

FLAT 315B
REAR

ENTRANCE

+20

+0.00

PRIVATE PARKING AREA
22.91 m²

BEDROOM 1
11.90 m²

BEDROOM 2
9.73 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
14.62 m²

FLAT 315A
REAR

ENTRANCE

UNIT 315 C UNIT 315 B UNIT 315 A
41.65 m² 41.65 m² 41.65 m²

2500 125 1400 125 2850 350 3850 350 2050 125 1400 125 3300 350 3850 350 2050 1400 125 3300 3503503850350

35
0

59
50

35
0

350 3850 350 5075 125 1800 350 3850 350 2500 125 4375 350 3850 350 2500 125 4375 350

35
0

22
25

12
5

36
00

35
0

1750

11725 11550 11725

66
50

BATHROOM
3.60 m²

07-12-2020

BEDROOM 1
11.90 m²

BEDROOM 2
9.73 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
14.62 m²

BATHROOM
3.60 m²

114



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 11

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

GROUND  FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

+0.00

+20 +20

+0.00

+0.00

+20

+20

+0.00

+20

+0.00

-100-100 -100

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

CYCLE AND WASTE
STORAGE AREA

FLAT 315D
ENTRANCE

FLAT 315E
ENTRANCE

FLAT 315F
ENTRANCE

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

Predisposition for
electric car charger

RAILWAYS

STATION ROAD

BOUNDARY LINE

PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALK PUBLIC SIDEWALK

+20

PRIVATE PARKING AREA
22.91 m²

BEDROOM 1
10.26 m²

LAUNDRY
4.01 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
20.60 m²

BATHROOM 1
5.04 m²

FLAT 315D
REAR

ENTRANCE

35
0

22
25

12
5

36
00

35
0

+0.00

+20

PRIVATE PARKING AREA
22.91 m²

BEDROOM 1
10.26 m²

LAUNDRY
4.01 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
20.60 m²

BATHROOM 1
5.04 m²

FLAT 315E
REAR

ENTRANCE

BEDROOM 1
10.26 m²

LAUNDRY
4.01 m²

ENTRANCE - STAIRCASE - STORAGE
17.98 m²

BATHROOM 1
5.53 m²PRIVATE PARKING AREA

18.87 m²

UNIT 315 F UNIT 315 E UNIT 315 D
39.45 m² 41.65 m² 41.65 m²

FLAT 315F
REAR

ENTRANCE

350 3850 350 1750 350 400125 1400 125 2850 350 3850 350 2500 125 1400 125 2850 350 3850 350 2500 125 1400 125 2850 350

35
0

70
0

35
0

49
00

35
0

350 3850 350 5075 125 1800 350 3850 350 5075 125 1800 350 3850 350 5075 125 1800 350 1750

11725 11550 11725

66
50

10
50

56
00

07-12-2020

115



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 12 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

FIRST  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+2670

+2670

UNIT 315 C UNIT 315 B UNIT 315 A
66.64 m² 63.33m² 63.33 m²

35
0

18
00

35
0

11725 11550 11725

66
50

350 3850 350 3725 125 3090 410 2850 125 875 350 825 125 2850 125 875 350 825 350

350 3850 350 1800 125 5075 350 3850 350 3850 350 2800 350 3850 350 3850 350 2800 350

35
0

49
00

35
0

10
50

12
5

40
25

1750

BEDROOM 2
15.50 m²

BEDROOM 3
14.42 m²

BEDROOM 4
11.67 m²

BATHROOM 3
6.24 m²BATHROOM 2

6.93 m²

BEDROOM 3
15.50 m²

KITCHEN/LIVING
38.34 m²

WC
1.57 m²

ENSUITE
5.13 m²

HALLWAY
7.47 m²

+2670

+2670

125 6050

TERRACE
3.30 m²

07-12-2020

BEDROOM 3
15.50 m²

KITCHEN/LIVING
38.34 m²

WC
1.57 m²

ENSUITE
5.13 m²

+2670

+2670

6050 350

BALCONY
2.57 m²

116



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 13

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

FIRST FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

+2670

UNIT 315 F UNIT 315 E UNIT 315 D
60.03 m² 66.64 m² 66.64 m²

11725 11550 11725

66
50

10
50

56
00

350 3850 350 1750 350 1625 125 3150 350 3850 350 3725 125 3150 350 3850 350 3725 125 3150 350

350 3850 350 1800 125 5075 350 3850 350 1800 125 5075 350 3850 350 1800 125 5075 350 1750

35
0

70
0

35
0

14
00

12
5

33
75

35
0

35
0

16
75

12
5

17
25

12
5

23
00

35
0

BEDROOM 2
15.50 m²

BEDROOM 3
14.42 m²

BEDROOM 4
11.67 m²

BATHROOM 3
6.24 m²BATHROOM 2

6.93 m²

BEDROOM 2
15.50 m²

BEDROOM 3
14.42 m²

BEDROOM 4
11.67 m²

BATHROOM 3
6.24 m²BATHROOM 2

6.93 m²

HALLWAY
7.47 m²

BEDROOM 2
12.99 m²

BEDROOM 3
13.78 m²

BEDROOM 4
10.15 m²

BATHROOM 3
4.86 m²

BATHROOM 2
5.39 m²

HALLWAY
8.82 m²

HALLWAY
7.47 m²

07-12-2020

117



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 14 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

SECOND  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

+5320

+5320

UNIT 315 C UNIT 315 B UNIT 315 A
63.33 m²

11725 11550 11725

56
00

350 2925 125 800 350 7000 350 4050 150 900 150 5950 350

35
0

87
5

65
5

95
33

25
12

5
87

5
35

0

35
0

49
00

35
0

70
0

35
0 10

50

1750 350 8050 350 2800 350 350 4050 150 2800 350 2800 350

WC
2.66 m²

KITCHEN
19.60 m²

LIVING - DINING ROOM
38.34 m²

BALCONY
2.57 m²

+5350

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
29.95m2

+5820

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING
19.84m2

+5320 +5320

AMENITY AREA
50.00 m²

900 150

07-12-2020

+5350 +5820+5320 +5320

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
29.95m2ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING

19.84m2

AMENITY AREA
50.00 m²

4050 150 900 150 5950 350

4050 150 900 150 5950

118



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 15

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

SECOND FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320

+5320+5320

UNIT 315 F UNIT 315 E UNIT 315 D
56.72 m² 63.33 m² 63.33 m²

11725 11550 11725

56
00

10
50

56
00

WC
2.66 m²

KITCHEN
19.60 m²

LIVING - DINING ROOM
38.34 m²

BALCONY
2.57 m²

WC
2.66 m²

KITCHEN
19.60 m²

LIVING - DINING ROOM
38.34 m²

TERRACE
3.31 m²

350 2925 125 800 350 1750 350 4900 350 2925 125 800 350 7000 350 2925 125 800 350 7000 350

350 3850 350 3850 350 2800 350 3850 350 3850 350 2800 350 3850 350 3850 350 2800 350

35
0

49
00

35
0

70
0

35
0 10

50

35
0

70
0

35
0

87
5

12
5

29
00

12
5

87
5

35
0

BALCONY
2.57 m²

WC
2.32 m²

KITCHEN
15.95 m²

LIVING - DINING ROOM
36.14 m²

1750

07-12-2020

119



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 16 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

GARDEN ROOF  FLOOR
BUILDING  01

UNIT 315 C UNIT 315 B UNIT 315 A
55.92 m²

11725 11550 11725

66
50

350

35
0

35
0

35
0

59
50

35
0

1750 350

+8070 +8570

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING
20.11m²

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
29.89 m²

+8100+8070

4050 150 900 150 6050 150

44
00

15
0

35
0

4050 1200 6050 350

STAIRCASE
3.49 m²

AMENITY AREA
50.00 m²

10
50

07-12-2020

120



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 17

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Floor Plans

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

GARDEN ROOF FLOOR
BUILDING  02

N

UNIT 315 F UNIT 315 E UNIT 315 D
49.31 m²

11725 11550 11725

56
00

10
50

56
00

350

350 350

35
0

49
00

35
0

90
0

15
0

10
50

35
0

70
0

35
0

35
0

1750

+8100
+8100 +8100

+8070 +8070 +8570

+8070 +8070 +8570
+8070 +8070 +8570

4050 150 900 150 700 350 5000 150 4150 150 914 136 6050 150 4150 150 900 150 5950 350

33
75

15
0

32
5

4050 1200 6050 150 4150 1200 6050 150 4150 1200 3150 2800

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING
15.83 m²

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
28.81 m²

STAIRCASE
3.04 m²

STAIRCASE
3.49 m²

STAIRCASE
3.49 m²

AMENITY AREA
44.64 m²

Glass balustrade

10
50

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING
20.50 m²

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
29.50 m²

ROOF PATIO - EXTERNAL DINING
20.50 m²

GREEN ROOF - GARDEN AREA
29.89 m²

56.31 m² 55.92 m²

AMENITY AREA
50.39 m²

AMENITY AREA
50.00 m²

07-12-2020

121



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE: 07-12-2020

NAME: P 18 - REV B

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Masterplan - Floorspaces

4 10m20
scale
1:200 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N

GROUND
FLOOR

UNIT  315A

UNIT 315 C UNIT 315 B UNIT 315 AUNIT 315 F UNIT 315 E UNIT 315 D

FIRST
FLOOR

SECOND
FLOOR

TOTAL

41.65 m² 63.33 m² / 104.98 m²
UNIT  315B 41.65 m² 63.33 m² / 104.98 m²
UNIT  315C 41.65 m² 66.64 m² 63.33 m² 171.62 m²
UNIT  315D 41.65 m² 66.64 m² 63.33 m² 171.62 m²
UNIT  315E 41.65 m² 66.64 m² 63.33 m² 171.62 m²
UNIT  315F 39.45 m² 60.03 m² 56.72 m² 156.20 m²

AMENITY
SPACE

50.00 m²
50.39 m²
50.00 m²
50.00 m²
50.39 m²
44.64 m²

PROPERTY n.315 AREA: 546.96 m²
BUILT AREA: BUILDING 01 232.72 m² - BUILDING 02  226.14 m²
COMMON GREEN AREA: 88.10 m²

BUILDING  01BUILDING  02

122



Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 19 - REV B

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Elevations

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

SOUTH  ELEVATION
BUILDING  01

+2670

24
00

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

25
0

+5320SECOND FLOOR

+20

+8070GARDEN ROOF FLOOR

20
24

00
25

0
24

00
35

0

Garage Door with horizontal
wooden decorative elements

Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

Metal decorative wall covering
iron black effect

Vertical wooden decorative elements Entrance Door with horizontal
wooden decorative elements

Metal sheet entrance cover
iron black effect

STREET LEVEL  -100

FRONT  ELEVATION

External glass balustradeMetal railing iron blackBrick wall Balcony external walls covered with
vertical wooden decorative elements

Glass balustrade

+8570GREEN ROOF

50
0

95
0

APPROVED HIGH   +7120
PLANNING APPLICATION
No. 16/01134/OUT.

+7120

APPROVED HIGH

07-12-2020

External glass balustrade

123



BUILDING  02

+2670

24
00

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

25
0

+5320SECOND FLOOR

+20

+8070GARDEN ROOF FLOOR

20
24

00
25

0
24

00
35

0

Garage Door with horizontal
wooden decorative elements

Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

Metal decorative wall covering
iron black effect

Vertical wooden decorative elements Entrance Door with horizontal
wooden decorative elements

Metal sheet entrance cover
iron black effect

STREET LEVEL  -100

SOUTH  ELEVATION
FRONT  ELEVATION

Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 20 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Elevations

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

+8570GREEN ROOF

50
0

95
0

External glass balustradeMetal railing iron blackBrick wall Balcony external walls covered with
vertical wooden decorative elements

External glass balustradeGlass balustrade

+7120

APPROVED HIGH

APPROVED HIGH   +7120
PLANNING APPLICATION
No. 16/01134/OUT.

07-12-2020

124



BUILDING  01

+2670

24
00

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

25
0

+5320SECOND FLOOR

+20

+8070GARDEN ROOF FLOOR

20
24

00
25

0
24

00
35

0

RAILWAYS

Brick wall

NORTH  ELEVATION
REAR  ELEVATION

Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 21 - REV B

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Elevations

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N.B. ALL THE WINDOWS ON THE NORTH ELEVATION ARE NOT OPENING
Garage rear window

Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

Black bricks wall

Glass balustrade

Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

+8570GREEN ROOF

50
0

95
0

+7120

APPROVED HIGH

APPROVED HIGH   +7120
PLANNING APPLICATION
No. 16/01134/OUT.

07-12-2020

125



BUILDING  02

+2670

24
00

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

25
0

+5320SECOND FLOOR

+20

+8070GARDEN ROOF FLOOR

20
24

00
25

0
24

00
35

0

RAILWAYS LEVEL

NORTH  ELEVATION
REAR  ELEVATION

Any errors on Dimensions to be reported to the
Architect prior to commencement of Works.
Dimensions and areas are based on survey information.
This drawing is copyright © Redwoods Projects.
All dimensions to be checked on site Prior work.

address.  4 Grosvenor Way - E5 9ND - London
tel.    020 3781 8008
mail.    office@redwoodsprojects.co.uk
web.    www.redwoodsprojects.co.uk

REFERENCE:

TITLE:

PROJECT NO 340 DATE:

NAME: P 22 - REV A

PROPOSED DRAWINGS
Elevations

2 5m10
scale
1:100 @A3

315 STATION ROAD
WESTCLIFF ON SEA - SS0 8SP

N.B. ALL THE WINDOWS ON THE NORTH ELEVATION ARE NOT OPENING

Brick wall

Garage rear window
Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

Black bricks wall
Fixed window with
exterior mirror glass

+8570GREEN ROOF

50
0

95
0

Glass balustrade

+7120

APPROVED HIGH

APPROVED HIGH   +7120
PLANNING APPLICATION
No. 16/01134/OUT.

07-12-2020

126



19/02/2021

315 Station Road Westcliff-
On-Sea Essex SS0 8DZ 

20200917_095854

127



19/02/2021

20200917_095856

20200917_095858

128



19/02/2021

20200917_095908

20200917_095909

129



19/02/2021

20200917_095912

20200917_095948

130



19/02/2021

20200917_095955

20200917_100007

131



19/02/2021

20200917_100222

20200917_100227

132



19/02/2021

20200917_100257

20200917_100258

133



19/02/2021

20200917_100300

20200917_100313

134



19/02/2021

20200917_100317

20200917_100407

135



19/02/2021

20200917_100432

20200917_100506

136



19/02/2021

20200917_100510

137



This page is intentionally left blank



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00053/FULH

- 1 -

Reference: 21/00053/FULH

Application Type: Full Application - Householder

Ward: Thorpe

Proposal: Install chimney flue for log burner to outbuilding at rear 
(Part-Retrospective) (Amended Proposal)

Address: 140 Thorpe Hall Avenue, Thorpe Bay, Essex

Applicant: Mr Barry Brook

Agent: Mr Alan Green of A9 Architecture

Consultation Expiry: 9th February 2021

Expiry Date: 10th March 2021

Case Officer: Spyros Mouratidis

Plan Nos: 1337 01, 1337 02, 1337 03 Rev B, 1337 04 Rev B, 1337 05 
Rev B, 1337 06 Rev B 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions

139

6



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00053/FULH

- 2 -

1 Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is on the eastern side of Thorpe Hall Avenue and is occupied by a 
semi-detached dwellinghouse and associated outbuildings. The area is residential in 
nature with sizeable dwellings sitting within spacious gardens. On the opposite side of 
Thorpe Hall Avenue is the Thorpe Hall Golf Club. The site lies within a Flood Risk Zone 
3 (the higher probability zone). 

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the installation of a chimney flue above one of the 
outbuildings to the rear part of the application site. A development of similar nature has 
already taken place on site but was refused planning permission under application 
19/01603/FULH (the “First 2019 Application”). This application is for an amended 
proposal following a second refused application under 19/02121/FULH (the “Second 
2019 Application”).

2.2 The proposed chimney would project approximately 1.5m above the highest point of the 
outbuilding and its height from the ground would be some 3.9m. The chimney flue would 
have a diameter of approximately 0.2m and would be made of stainless steel painted 
black, similarly to the existing, unauthorised flue. 

2.3 The proposed chimney would be 0.8m lower than that applied for with the First 2019 
Application and 0.5m higher than that proposed with the Second 2019 Application. The 
diameter is unchanged.

3 Relevant Planning History
 

3.1 The most relevant planning history of the site is shown on Table 1 below:

Table 1: Relevant Planning History

Reference Description Outcome
19/01603/FULH Install chimney flue for log burner to 

outbuilding at rear (Retrospective)
Refused
[8.11.2019]

19/02121/FULH Install chimney flue for log burner to 
outbuilding at rear (Part-Retrospective) 
(Amended Proposal)

Refused
[15.1.2020]

 
3.2 The reason for refusal for the First 2019 Application was in summary that the 

development, due to its rudimentary design, height and industrial appearance, 
represented an obtrusive form of development which was not in keeping with the 
residential character of the surrounding area and had harmed the visual amenity of the 
locality. The reason for refusal for the Second 2019 Application related to the height and 
position of the proposed flue which was considered it would result in material harm to 
the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers in terms of pollution as there would 
not be sufficient dispersal of smoke and fumes. The basis of the decisions made on 
those applications carry significant weight in the consideration of the current application.

4 Representation Summary

Call-in
4.1 The application has been called in for consideration by the Development Control 

140



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00053/FULH

- 3 -

Committee by Councillor Woodley.

Public Consultation
4.2 Three (3) neighbouring properties were consulted. No representations have been 

received. 

Environmental Health
4.3 No objection – The flue height will provide adequate dispersal of fumes. 

5 Planning Policy Summary
 

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2019)

5.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance). 

5.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 
(Efficient and Effective Use of Land).

5.5 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, the design and impact on the character of the area, the impact on 
residential amenity, whether the development would be liable for CIL and whether the 
amended proposal overcomes the reason of refusal of the two previous applications.

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 The principle of altering an existing outbuilding to provide facilities in association with its 
existing use is considered acceptable and did not form a reason for refusal of the two 
previous applications. Other material planning considerations are discussed in the 
following sections of the report.

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2 Good design is a fundamental requirement of new development in order to achieve high 
quality living environments. Its importance is reflected in the NPPF, in Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy and also in Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document. The Design and Townscape Guide also states that: “the Borough Council is 
committed to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living 
environments.” 

7.3 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that: “The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 

141



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00053/FULH

- 4 -

Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which 
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.” Policy DM1 
of the Development Management Document states that all development should: “add to 
the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context and 
surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, 
density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and 
detailed design features.”

7.4 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should: “respect the 
character and scale of the existing neighbourhood where appropriate”. Policy CP4 of 
the Core Strategy requires that development proposals should: “maintain and enhance 
the amenities, appeal and character of residential areas, securing good relationships 
with existing development, and respecting the scale and nature of that development”.

7.5 The proposed development is of limited architectural value. The proposed chimney flue 
is of a rudimentary and utilitarian design. Nevertheless, it is not uncommon for the 
installation of log burners to be accompanied by the installation of a chimney of such a 
design. The top of the chimney would be 3.9m above ground level and of a slender form 
which would not be bulky or over-dominant and while it would be visible, especially from 
within the rear gardens of adjacent properties, it is not considered that it would be overly 
conspicuous or intrusive, on balance. The development would be seen from adjacent 
public areas within the context of the rear gardens where modest sized trees and other 
features comprise the vernacular. Even if trees which comprise the backdrop of the 
development when viewed from certain vistas or obscure the development, were to be 
removed (as they are not permanent features), it is not considered that the chimney 
would be so prominent as to cause material harm to the visual amenity of the area. The 
colour scheme for the development is adequate and would limit any sunlight glaring. It 
is considered that the proposed 0.8m reduction of the height of the flue compared with 
that previously proposed to be retained with the First 2019 Permission would be 
sufficient to overcome the relevant reason for refusal. The Second application was not 
refused for reasons related to height, but to pollution concerns which are addressed in 
the section below. Overall, the development, as proposed, would, on balance, not be 
materially harmful to the character and appearance of the area. The development is 
acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards and has overcome the reason for 
refusal of the First refused application.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.6 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document requires all development to be 
appropriate in its setting by respecting neighbouring development and existing 
residential amenities and also: “[…] having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise 
and disturbance, sense of enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and 
sunlight.”

7.7 By its nature, the chimney flue would not cause any overlooking, any significant 
overshadowing or any detrimental overpowering impacts on any of the neighbouring 
properties. Neighbouring gardens are generously sized such that, although visible, the 
flue is set away from neighbouring dwellings and as such there is no adverse harm in 
terms of outlook. Concerns have been raised by neighbouring properties in relation to 
air pollution. The height of the chimney, increased by 0.5m compared with the Second 
refused application, is considered sufficient to allow adequate dispersal of smoke and 
other combustion gases and by-products in order to avoid material harm to the living 

142



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref: 21/00053/FULH

- 5 -

conditions within neighbouring properties. It is not considered that the development 
would materially affect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in relation to noise and 
disturbance. The Council’s Environmental Health team has been consulted and raised 
no objection. Overall, the development is acceptable and in line with policy in the above 
regards. It has also overcome the reason for refusal of the Second application. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.8 The proposed development equates to less than 100m2 of new floorspace. As such, the 
development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and no charge is payable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that the 
proposed development would, on balance, be acceptable and compliant with the 
objectives of the relevant national and local policies and guidance. The proposal is 
reduced in height compared with the first previous scheme refused on character grounds 
but sufficiently increased in height compared with the second previously refused 
application to overcome concerns about pollution. The proposal would have an 
acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and, on balance, on the 
character and appearance of the application site and the locality more widely. This 
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.

9 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following condition:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 3 years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

02 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans: 1337 01, 1337 02, 1337 03 Rev B, 1337 04 Rev B, 1337 05 Rev B, 
1337 06 Rev B.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
development plan.

Informatives:

1 Failure to remove the existing unauthorised chimney is likely to result in the 
Council considering it expedient to take enforcement action to seek to remedy the 
identified harm.

143



This page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Location Plan

011337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:1250

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook

9

140
138

12

132

144

0 20 40 60 80 10020

Elm Grove

Th
or

pe
 H

al
l A

ve
nu

e N

145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Site plan

021337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:500

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook
0.8

9.9
2.4

23.0
4.4 1.5

140
138

12

144

Elm Grove

Th
or

pe
 H

al
l A

ve
nu

e
0.8

9.9
2.4

23.0
4.4 1.5

140
138

12

144

Elm Grove

Th
or

pe
 H

al
l A

ve
nu

e

N
0 20

Metres

10

EXISTING SITE PLAN PROPOSED SITE PLAN

147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Existing Plans

031337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:100

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook

STORE
A: 14.0 m2

OUTBUILDING
A: 27.0 m2

S-06 S-06 S-06 S-06

N

Ground Floor Roof Plan

SCALE IN METRES

100

B

149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Existing Elevations and Section

041337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:100

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook

2,
25

8

2,
45

7

2,
45

7

2,
43

2

2.
4

2.
2

Front Elevation Rear Elevation

Flank Elevation

SCALE IN METRES

100

Flank Elevation

Section

B

151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Proposed Floor Plans

051337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:100

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook

S-06 S-06

Two guy wires stabilizing the chimney

Proposed a log
burner with a
chimney flue

STORE
A: 14.0 m2

OUTBUILDING
A: 27.0 m2

S-06 S-06

N

SCALE IN METRES

100

Roof PlanGround Floor

B

153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.1.100.100

A3

Proposed Elevations and
Sections

061337

DPOCH 08/09/2020 1:100

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea, Essex,
SS1 3AR

Barry Brook

3,
95

7

2,
25

8

2,
45

7

Proposed a log
burner with a
chimney flue

Two guy wires
stabilizing the

chimney

2,
25

8
1,

69
9

3,
95

7

2,
45

7

3,
95

7

2,
43

2

3,
93

2

1,
50

0

Proposed a log
burner with a
chimney flue

2.
4

2.
2

SCALE IN METRES

100

Section

Front Elevation Rear Elevation

Flank Elevation Flank Elevation

B

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



19/02/2021

140 Thorpe Hall Avenue

View of development from neighbouring site

157



19/02/2021

View of development from neighbouring site

View of development from neighbouring site

158



19/02/2021

View of the development from Fermoy Road

View of the development from the rear elevation of the main dwelling

159



19/02/2021

View of the development from the rear elevation of the main dwelling

View of the development

160



19/02/2021

The site (right)  and the neighbouring properties to the south.

The neighbouring garden to the south

161



19/02/2021

View from the location of the development towards the north

162



Reference: 20/02096/FULH

Application Type: Full Application - Householder

Ward: St Laurence

Proposal: Erect single storey rear extension (Retrospective)

Address: 117 North Crescent, Southend-On-Sea, Essex

Applicant: Mrs Leah Stoneman

Agent:  

Consultation Expiry: 6th January 2021

Expiry Date: 8th March 2021

Case Officer: Robert Lilburn

Plan Nos: East side elevation (proposed), West side elevation 
(proposed), Rear elevation (proposed)

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION

                                   

163

7



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

1 Site and Surroundings

1.1 The application relates to a semi-detached chalet bungalow situated within the 
residential area. It is part of a row of similar dwellings situated along the north side of 
North Crescent, with rear gardens adjoining open fields beyond. Most dwellings within 
the row have been subject to modest single-storey rear extensions.

1.2 The subject building is finished externally in painted render with plain roof tiles and 
incorporates a rear box roof dormer. At the time of an earlier site visit in 2017 it was 
found that the subject building incorporated a single-storey flat-roofed rear projection of 
some 2.4m depth and occupying most of the width of the building.

1.3 The site is not specifically identified on the policies map of the development 
management document. It is located within flood zone 1.

2 The Proposal   

2.1 Retrospective planning permission is sought for the erection of a single-storey rear 
extension. The submitted plans show that the extension that has been constructed is 
some 6m in depth measured from the former rear wall of the earlier 2.4m rear projection 
identified above. As a result, the total rear projection measures some 8.4m from the 
original main rear wall of the original dwelling building. In common with the earlier 
projection, it occupies most of the width of the host building. The submitted plans show 
it is 2.85m in height and is situated some 1.8m from the side elevation of no.119 North 
Crescent.  

164



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

The extension is flat-roofed and has been finished externally in blue-coloured render. It 
incorporates a glazed door and a window on the west-facing elevation and a set of 
glazed doors on the rear elevation. It provides additional living accommodation in 
association with the established dwelling.

The applicant has submitted a petition in support of the application. The covering 
statement of the petition states that prior approval was applied for in 2017, in application 
17/01285/PA3COU, for a rear extension of 6m in depth from the existing rear wall of the 
building. This would correspond to the depth of the extension for which planning 
permission is now sought. It states that the neighbours were contacted, and the council 
received no objections. 

The statement alleges that a decision for the prior approval application was not issued 
within the time specified, as identified in the conditions of permitted development, and 
that therefore deemed planning permission exists for the extension as applied for at that 
time. However, records show that the decision was issued well within the specified 
period, and therefore no weight is given to this claimed ‘fall-back position’ that deemed 
planning permission already exists for the development.

The application 17/01285/PA3COU, seeking prior approval to ‘Erect single storey rear 
extension, projecting 6m beyond the existing rear wall of the dwelling, 2.85m high to 
eaves and with a maximum height of 2.85m’ was received as valid on 11.07.2017. The 
file shows that the decision was emailed to the agent on 15.08.2017. It was refused for 
the following reason: 
The proposed extension, by virtue of Sections 55 and 57 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), constitutes development requiring planning 
permission. Prior Approval is hereby refused for the proposal under condition A.4 (3) of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), because the proposed 
development does not comply with the requirements of Sections A.1 (g) and A.1 (ja) of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended).  This is due to the proposed development 
extending beyond an existing rear extension which is not part of the original 
dwellinghouse and thereby exceeding 6m in extent beyond the original rear wall.

An application for full planning permission was subsequently received on 24.11.2017 to 
erect a single-storey rear extension (application 17/02086/FULH). However, this 
application was not valid on receipt, and was not received as valid until 13.03.2018. 
This proposed a flat-roofed single-storey rear extension, to be adjoined to the existing 
flat-roofed single-storey rear projection of 2.4m depth. The submitted plans showed that 
it would measure a maximum of 5.9m depth, in addition to the existing projection. The 
applicant stated on the application form that work to build the extension commenced on 
17.07.2017.

The application was subsequently refused on 04.05.2018 for the following reasons:
01.The proposed rear extension would, by reason of its length and proximity result 

in an overbearing feature which would be detrimental to the outlook and rear 
garden scene of neighbouring properties, in particular nos.115 and 119 North 
Crescent. This would be unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies 
DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and guidance 
contained within the Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

165



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

2.8

2.9

02.The proposed rear extension would, by reason of its length be insufficiently 
subservient to the main building, and would result in an unduly dominant feature 
which would be detrimental to the rear garden scene, harming the visual 
amenities of the area. This would be unacceptable and contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), 
Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and 
guidance contained within the Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

A planning statement has been submitted by the applicant in support of the application.

The application has been submitted following a planning enforcement inquiry arising 
from a complaint received by the Local Planning Authority. The current application has 
been called in to the Development Control Committee by Councillor Cowan.

3 Relevant Planning History 

3.1

3.2

3.3

17/02086/FULH: Erect single storey rear extension. Refused.

17/01285/GPDE: Erect single storey rear extension, projecting 6m beyond the existing 
rear wall of the dwelling, 2.85m high to eaves and with a maximum height of 2.85m. 
Refused.

12/00870/CLP: Erect single storey rear extension (Lawful Development Certificate - 
Proposed). Granted.

4 Representation Summary

4.1

4.2

4.3

Public Consultation

4 neighbouring properties were notified. No letters of representation have been received 
directly as a result of this consultation. 

The applicant has provided copies of 34 letters of support for the application and a 
petition. The petition details are summarised above. The petition has 14 signatures 
attached.

The letters of support provided by the applicant in connection with the application can 
be summarised as follows:

- The development does not affect the appearance of the street;
- The extension is not too large for the plot;
- The development does not harm the privacy, daylight or outlook of neighbouring 

occupiers, one of whom also wishes to extend rearwards;
- A rear extension means that an upward extension is not required;
- The extension supports a young and growing family;
- The extension provides a good family home and supports the ability of the family 

to stay in the area;
- Young families should be encouraged to stay locally given the housing crisis and 

the benefits to community;
- The impacts on occupiers of a refusal are unfair.

These comments are noted and where relevant to material planning considerations they 
have been taken into account in the assessment of the application.

166



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

5 Planning Policy Summary 

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Planning Practice Guidance and National Design Guide (2019)

Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy) KP2 (Development Principles) 
CP4 (Environment & Urban Renaissance) 

Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality) DM3 (The 
Efficient and Effective Use of Land) 

Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

CIL Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 
development, design and impact on the character of the area, impact on residential 
amenity, and CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy).

7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 The dwelling is situated within a residential built-up area and extensions or alterations to 
the property are acceptable in principle, subject to the detailed considerations discussed 
below.

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

Paragraph 124 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that “Good design is a 
key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work 
and helps make development acceptable to communities”.

Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document advocate the need for development to secure 
good relationships with existing development and to respect the existing scale.

The National Design Guide seeks new development that is appropriately integrated into 
its surroundings. 

The Design and Townscape Guide states that extensions to buildings should appear 
subservient and must be respectful of the scale of the present building.

The submitted plans show that the rear extension for which planning permission is 
sought combined with the established lawful rear projection create a flat-roofed rear 
projection from the original building of some 8.4m. This compares with the depth of the 
original host building which is some 7.35m.

167



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

7.7

7.8

The resulting scale of the total rear projection is such that the extension is not suitably 
subservient and does not integrate appropriately with the host building. It is harmfully 
dominant to the character and appearance of the host building.

The extension is not readily visible from the public realm. A reasonable amount of 
garden ground remains as at this location as the rear gardens are relatively long. 
Single-storey flat-roofed extensions are also a prevailing feature along the associated 
row of dwellings. However, these mitigating factors do not overcome the impact of the 
unusually deep rear projection, the scale and design of which is unacceptable in relation 
to the host building, the site and the wider area. The development is unacceptable and 
contrary to the above policies with regard to the quality of design and the protection of 
the character of the borough.

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.9

7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

7.16

Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to secure a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy seeks to secure improvements to the urban 
environment through quality design. Policy CP4 seeks to maintain and enhance the 
amenities, appeal and character of residential areas.

Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document seek to support 
sustainable development which is appropriate in its setting, and that “protects the 
amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to 
matters including privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, sense of 
enclosure/overbearing relationship, pollution, daylight and sunlight”. 

The Design and Townscape Guide also states that “the Borough Council is committed 
to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments”.

The adjacent property no.115 North Crescent has a rear extension measuring some 
4.6m in depth.

The extension for which planning permission is now sought projects some 3.8m from 
the extended rear face of no.115 North Crescent. The relative extent of the projection to 
the rear of no.115 North Crescent is such that the effect is visually overbearing and 
obtrusive, and creates an unacceptable sense of enclosure and loss of outlook to the 
detriment of the amenities of the occupiers of no.115.

The extension for which planning permission is now sought projects some 6m from the 
rear face of no.119 North Crescent. Taking account of the scale and proximity to the 
rear of no.119 North Crescent, including its private amenity space, together with the 
relative narrowness of the gardens, the extension for which planning permission is now 
sought is visually obtrusive, overbearing and creates and unacceptable sense of 
enclosure and loss of outlook to the detriment of the amenities of the occupiers of this 
property. 

As the extension is single-storey and is aligned with its two neighbours in an east-west 
axis, its impact on daylight and shadowing to those properties and their private amenity 
spaces are not significantly harmful. The screening provided by the existing boundary 
fans is considered sufficient to mitigate any potential loss of privacy arising to the rear of 

168



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

7.17

no.119 North Crescent from the west-facing glazed door and window. 

The extension fails to maintain the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and is therefore 
unacceptable and contrary to the above-mentioned policies in this regard.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.18 The new floor space created by the proposal is less than 100sqm. Therefore, the 
development is not CIL liable.

8 Conclusion 

8.1

8.2

Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that the 
principle of an extension is acceptable. However, the design, size and scale of the 
proposal is inconsistent with the aims of maintaining and enhancing the quality of the 
area. The extension harms the character and appearance of the host property and the 
location more widely. The proposal is also found to be overbearing, visually obtrusive 
and creates an unacceptable sense of enclosure at the neighbouring properties to the 
significant detriment of the amenities of occupiers. 

The desirability of creating stable communities and the need for the provision of 
suitably-sized family housing is recognised. However, the concerns identified are not 
outweighed by these considerations, the personal circumstances identified by the 
applicant or the positive representations provided by the applicant. The development is 
considered to be unacceptable and fails to comply with adopted planning policies. 

9 Recommendation  

REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the following reason(s):

01.The rear extension, by reason of its design, size, scale and overall length, is 
insufficiently subservient to the host building, and results in an unduly 
dominant feature which is detrimental to the character and appearance of the 
original dwelling, the rear garden scene and the area more widely. This is 
unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within 
the Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

02.The rear extension, by reason of its design, size and siting results in an 
overbearing visually obtrusive feature which creates an unacceptable sense of 
enclosure and loss of outlook at 115 and 119 North Crescent to the detriment 
of the amenities of the occupiers of these properties. This is unacceptable and 
contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies KP2 and CP4 of 
the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009).

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and 
determining the application within a timely manner, clearly setting out the 
reason(s) for refusal, allowing the Applicant the opportunity to consider the harm 

169



Southend Borough Council Development Control Report Application Ref:20/02096/FULH

caused and whether or not it can be remedied by a revision to the proposal.  The 
detailed analysis is set out in a report prepared by officers. In the circumstances 
the proposal is not considered to be sustainable development. The Local 
Planning Authority is willing to discuss the best course of action.

10 Informatives

The extension(s) equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace and the 
development would benefit from a Minor Development Exemption under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no 
charge would be payable.

170



171



This page is intentionally left blank



173



This page is intentionally left blank



175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



177



T
his page is intentionally left blank



179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



181



This page is intentionally left blank



183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



185



This page is intentionally left blank



187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



No.117, No.119 to west (kitchen)

189



No.115 to east, No.117

190



No.119

191



Scene to east

192



View from r/o no.119

193



With no.115

194



No.119

195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference: 20/02147/FULH

Ward: West Shoebury

Proposal: Erect single storey side extension 

Address: 9 Appledore
Shoeburyness
Essex
SS3 8UW

Applicant: Ms F Mitha

Agent: SKArchitects 

Consultation Expiry: 13th January 2021

Expiry Date: 4th March 2021

Case Officer: Julie Ramsey

Plan Nos: P01, P03

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

205

8



1 Site and Surroundings

1.1

1.2

1.3

The application site is located to the eastern side of a small spur road accessed from 
Appledore, between Nos 5 and 11 Appledore.  The site contains a two storey detached 
dwelling with a detached double garage located within the northern corner of the site. 
There is hardstanding to the frontage for parking.   

The surrounding area is residential in nature and comprising of detached dwellings of 
similar sizes, scale and designs, laid out in a manner typical of a residential housing 
estate.  

The site is not located within a conservation area or subject to any site specific planning 
policies and is located in Flood Zone 1 which has a low risk of flooding.  

2 The Proposal   

2.1

2.2

2.3

The application seeks planning permission to construct a single storey side extension,  
on the southern side of the dwelling, enlarging the existing side extension to the full depth 
of the main dwelling.  The proposed extension has a dual pitched roof and two rooflights 
but no further fenestration and is located to the southern side of the dwelling.    

The extension measures 2.1m wide, 8.4m deep, with an eaves height of 2.5m and a 
maximum height of 4m.

The proposed materials are yellow brick and render and pantiles to match the existing 
dwelling. The proposal would enlarge the existing dining room and kitchen.  
  

3 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 20/02148/CLP -  Install dormer to rear to form habitable accommodation in the loftspace, 
erect single storey rear extension and install rooflights to front (Certificate of Lawful 
Development - proposed) – Certificate Granted 

4 Representation Summary

4.1

Public Consultation

Six neighbouring properties were notified of the application and a number of 
representations have been received from two addresses.  

Summary of matters raised: 

 Side extension and roof extension result in a large development 
 Not consulted on 20/02148/CLP 
 Parking concerns due to limited turning area in cul de sac
 Concerns over possibility of a business being run from the property
 Reduction in value of neighbouring properties
 Noise, dust and general disruption from building works 
 Harm to neighbour amenity 
 Design of proposal unacceptable
 Loft development out of keeping with original Appledore style of house

206



 Overbearing impact 
 Overlook neighbouring properties and gardens
 Concerns raised over size, height and location of rear extension
 Increase in noise and disturbance
 Reduce natural light to neighbouring property
 Loss of privacy
 Dormer window could be moved to the front 
 Original condition of sale/covenants of properties stated no rooms to be built in 

the roof
 Overdevelopment of site

[Officer Note - With regard to matters raised in relation to the rear dormer and rear 
extension, this is development which does not form part of this application and is the 
subject of application 20/02148/CLP which has been granted.]  

4.2 All relevant material planning considerations raised in relation to the proposal under 
consideration in this application have been taken into account in the assessment of the 
application. However, they are not found to represent a reasonable basis to refuse 
planning permission in the circumstances of this case. 

4.3

Committee Call In 

The application was called to Committee by Councillor Cox 

5 Planning Policy Summary

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

5.2 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy) KP2 (Development Principles), 
CP3 (Transport and Accessibility) and CP4 (Environment & Urban Renaissance)

5.3 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), Policy 
DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land) and DM15 (Sustainable Transport 
Management)

5.4 Design & Townscape Guide (2009)

5.5 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

6 Planning Considerations

6.1 The key considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, 
design and impact on the character of the streetscene, impact on residential amenity and 
CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) contributions.  There is no change in the need for, 
or provision of, on-site parking and there are no harmful highway impacts resulting from 
the proposed development.  

207



7 Appraisal

Principle of Development

7.1 This proposal is considered in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Core Strategy Policies KP1, KP2 and CP4.  Also, of relevance is Policy DM1 which 
addresses design quality.  These policies and guidance support extensions to properties 
in most cases but require that such alterations and extensions respect the existing 
character and appearance of the building. The dwelling is situated within a residential 
area and an extension or an alteration to the property is considered acceptable in 
principle, subject to detailed considerations discussed below.  

Design and Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

The National Planning Policy Framework states at paragraph 124 ‘Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 
helps make development acceptable to communities.’ 

Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy advocates the need for all new development to “respect 
the character and scale of the existing neighbourhood where appropriate and secure 
improvements to the urban environment through quality design”. Policy CP4 of the Core 
Strategy states, “development proposals will be expected to contribute to the creation of 
a high quality, sustainable urban environment which enhances and complements the 
natural and built assets of Southend by maintaining and enhancing the amenities, appeal 
and character of residential areas, securing good relationships with existing 
development, and respecting the scale and nature of that development.”

The Design and Townscape Guide also states that “the Borough Council is committed 
to good design and will seek to create attractive, high-quality living environments”.

Paragraph 351 of the Design and Townscape Guide states that ‘Many properties in the 
Borough have the capacity to extend to the side. However, side extensions can easily 
become over-bearing and dominate the original property. In order to avoid this, side 
extensions should be achieved by ensuring the extension is set back behind the existing 
building frontage line and that its design, in particular the roof, is fully integrated with the 
existing property. 

The proposed side extension would project some 2.1m from the side wall of the dwelling 
and is of a modest size and scale.  The proposal seeks to enlarge the existing side 
extension along the flank wall of the main dwelling.  The dual pitched roof reflects the 
existing roof pitch of the side extension. The side elevation is screened by the 
neighbouring dwelling at No. 11 and would have very little visibility within the streetscene. 

The side extension has a limited set back of some 0.15m from the front wall of the 
dwelling, however the main dwelling has a pitched roof porch to the front of some 1.5m 
in depth and therefore given the limited width of the proposed side extension, it is 
considered to be appropriately subservient to the main dwelling.  The lack of fenestration 
detailing to the front of the extension is not considered to be a positive aspect of the 
scheme, but given the size, scale and character of the dwelling in terms of external 
materials and fenestration detailing and the location of the extension to the southern side 
of the dwelling, this is not considered to be out of keeping with the character and 
appearance of the main dwelling, the streetscene or the wider area.  

208



7.8

7.9

Therefore, in terms of its size, scale and height, the proposed side extension is 
considered to be visually acceptable and would not result in demonstrable harm to the 
character and appearance of the dwelling or the wider area.  The use of render, brick 
and tile would harmonise with the existing dwelling and the proposed extension would 
integrate satisfactorily with the character and appearance of the main dwelling and wider 
area. 

It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the main dwelling, the rear garden scene or the visual 
amenities of the wider area. In this respect the proposal is considered to be acceptable 
and policy compliant.  

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

The Design and Townscape Guide Paragraph 343; under the heading of Alterations and 
Additions to Existing Residential Buildings “states that amongst other criteria, that 
‘extensions must respect the amenity of neighbouring buildings and ensure not to 
adversely affect light, outlook or privacy of the habitable rooms in adjacent properties’.  
In addition to this Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document also states 
that development should “Protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and 
surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, 
visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight.”

The application property is neighboured by No. 11 Appledore (to the south) and Nos. 24 
and 26 Challacombe (to the north).  All neighbouring properties are detached.    

The side extension is located on the southern side of the application property and does 
not extend past the front and rear walls of the dwelling.  Therefore the properties to the 
north in Challacombe are screened from the extension by the existing dwelling and the 
proposal would not have a detrimental impact on the residential amenities of these  
properties, in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy or outlook, or an undue sense of 
enclosure.  

No. 11 Appledore is a detached dwelling sited close to the shared boundary with No. 9.  
The side extension is located approximately 1.5m from the shared boundary.  Part of the 
proposed extension would be screened by the flank wall of No. 11 and given the existing 
side extension and the single storey nature of the proposal, it is not considered that the 
extension would result in material harm to the amenity of this neighbour by way of 
unacceptable loss of light, outlook, overlooking or an undue increased sense of 
enclosure or dominant impact.  

Due to the orientation of the application site, the rear (east) boundary borders the flank 
elevation of No. 15.  However the extension is no closer to this rear boundary than the 
existing extension and would not impact on the amenities of this neighbour  in any 
significant regard.  

Therefore, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in these 
regards.  

209



Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

7.16 The development for the existing property equates to less than 100sqm of new 
floorspace and does not involve the creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), as such the 
development benefits from a Minor Development Exemption under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that the 
proposed development would be acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the 
relevant development plan policies and guidance. The proposal would have an 
acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the character and 
appearance of the application site, the street scene and the locality more widely. There 
are no adverse highway implications. This application is therefore recommended for 
approval subject to conditions.

9 Recommendation

Members are recommended to grant planning permission subject to the following 
conditions: 

01

02

03

The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the 
date of the decision.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

The development shall be undertaken solely in accordance with the following 
approved plan(s): P03

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
provisions of the Development Plan.

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in 
terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. 
This applies unless differences are shown on the drawings hereby approved or 
are required by conditions to this permission.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the appearance of the 
building makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the 
area. This is as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies 
KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).

210



The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received 
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report 
on the application prepared by officers.

10 Informatives

1 You are advised that as the proposed extension(s) or change of use to your 
property equates to less than 100sqm of new floorspace and does not involve the 
creation of a new dwelling (Class C3), the development benefits from a Minor 
Development Exemption under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) and as such no charge is payable. See the Planning  Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infr
astructure_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil) for further 
details about CIL.

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council may seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 
take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths 
in the borough.

211



This page is intentionally left blank



0 10 50m20

Existing Location Plan 1:1250 @ A1
N

Existing Block Plan 1:200 @ A1

N

0 1 5m2

Dining

Kitchen

Utility

Study

Living

Hall

Double garage

Shed

Existing Ground Floor Plan 1:100 @ A1
N

0 1 5m2

A

A

Bedroom 1

Landing

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 3

En-suite
Bathroom

Existing First Floor Plan 1:100 @ A1
N

0 1 5m2

A

A

Existing Roof Plan 1:100 @ A1
N

0 1 5m2

Existing West (front) Elevation 1:100 @ A1 Existing South Elevation 1:100 @ A1Existing East (rear) Elevation 1:100 @ A1 Existing North Elevation 1:100 @ A1

Hall Utility

BathroomLanding

Existing Section A 1:100 @ A1

853-855 London Road
Westcliff-on-Sea
SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250
Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no: Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Drawing no: Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2018

Scale: 1:100 @ A1

P01 -

Planning

Farah Mitha

9 Appledore

Existing Location, Block & Floor Plans and Elevations

658 RW

SK

Southend-on-Sea
SS3 8UW

Rev Comment By Date

- - - -

213

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
APPLEDORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Dining

Kitchen

Utility

Study

Living

Hall

Double garage

CoatsWC

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 1:100 @ A1
N

0 1 5m2

(boiler)

Pi
an

o

A

A

Bedroom 1

Landing

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 3

En-suite
Bathroom

Proposed 1st Floor Plan 1:100 @ A1
N

0 1 5m2

Proposed West (Front) Elevation 1:100 @ A1

0 1 5m2

Roof and wall to
match existing

Proposed East (Rear) Elevation 1:100 @ A1

0 1 5m2

Proposed North Elevation 1:100 @ A1

0 1 5m2

Proposed South Elevation 1:100 @ A1

0 1 5m2

Brick, to match existing

Roof tiles/pitch,
to match existing

2x new rooflight

Proposed Location Plan 1:1250 @ A1
N

0 10 50m20

Proposed Block Plan 1:100 @ A1

N

0 1 5m2

0 1 5m2

Proposed Section A 1:200 @ A3

1600 6012

853-855 London Road
Westcliff-on-Sea
SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250
Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no: Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Drawing no: Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2018

Scale: 1:100, 1:200 & 1:1250
@ A1

P03 -

Planning 

Farah Mitha

9 Appledore

Proposed Location, Block & Floor Plans and Elevations

658 RW

SK

Southend-on-Sea
SS3 8UW

Rev Comment By Date

- - - -

215

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
APPLEDORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Site Visit Photos 
9 Appledore 

217



rear

218



rear

219



No 11

220



No 11

221



Front garages 

222



Front 

223



Side from front 

224



Opposite

225



Side 11 

226



Side 11 

227



15 to rear

228



15

229



15 and 11 

230


	Agenda
	 Contents List & Introduction
	4 21/00019/FUL - 17 - 19 Manor Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton Ward)
	17-19 Manor Road_PLA_105_P3_2021.02.16_Maps
	17-19 Manor Road_PLA_120_P5_2021.02.16_Existing Plans
	17-19 Manor Road_PLA_250_P5_2021.02.16_Proposed Plans
	Site photographs submitted with application

	5 20/02207/FUL - 315 Station Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Chalkwell Ward)
	E00 site and location plans
	E01 existing floor plan and elevations
	P01-P22
	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	1
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	2
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	3
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	4
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	5
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	6
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	7
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	8
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	9
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	10
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	11
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	12
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	13
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	14
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	15
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	16
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	17
	Sheets and Views
	Model





	18
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	2020-12-07 -  FULL PROJECT - REV A
	19
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	20
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	21
	Sheets and Views
	Model




	22
	Sheets and Views
	Model




	Site photographs from previous applications

	6 21/00053/FULH - 140 Thorpe Hall Avenue, Thorpe Bay, Southend-on-Sea (Thorpe Ward)
	01 location plan
	1337_01 Location Plan

	02 site plans
	1337_02 Site plan

	03 existing floor plans
	1337_03 Existing Plans_rev B

	04 existing elevations
	1337_04 Existing Elevations and Section_rev B

	05 proposed floor plans
	1337_05 Proposed Floor Plans_rev B

	06 proposed elevations
	1337_06 Proposed Elevations and Sections_rev B

	site photographs from previous applications

	7 20/02096/FULH - 117 North Crescent, Southend-on-Sea (St Laurence Ward)
	location site
	Former floor plan
	Existing East Elevation
	former west elevation
	former rear elevation
	proposed floor plan
	proposed east elevation
	proposed rear elevation
	proposed west elevation
	2017 pics - relevant
	recent pics from applicant

	8 20/02147/FULH - 9 Appledore, Shoeburyness (West Shoebury Ward)
	Appledore existing
	Sheets and Views
	658-P01


	Appledore Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	658-P03


	Photos


